
7275 W. MAIN STREET, KALAMAZOO, MI 49009-9334 
269-216-5220           Fax 375-7180         TDD 375-7198 

www.oshtemo.org 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE 
OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
 

Work Session  
Thursday, June 27, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

2. Approval of Agenda 
 

3. Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 

4. Approval of Minutes: June 13, 2019 
 

5. Lighting Ordinance Review 
 

6. Maple Hill South Overlay Zone Review 
 

7. Any Other Business 
a. Update on O’Reilly Auto Parts site plan 
 

8. Planning Commissioner Comments 
 

9. Adjournment 
 



Policy for Public Comment 
Township Board Regular Meetings, Planning Commission & ZBA Meetings 

All public comment shall be received during one of the following portions of the Agenda of an open meeting:  

a. Citizen Comment on Non-Agenda Items or Public Comment – while this is not intended to be a forum for dialogue
and/or debate, if a citizen inquiry can be answered succinctly and briefly, it will be addressed or it may be delegated
to the appropriate Township Official or staff member to respond at a later date. More complicated questions can be
answered during Township business hours through web contact, phone calls, email (oshtemo@oshtemo.org), walk-
in visits, or by appointment.

b. After an agenda item is presented by staff and/or an applicant, public comment will be invited.
At the close of public comment there will be Board discussion prior to call for a motion. While comments that include
questions are important, depending on the nature of the question, whether it can be answered without further
research, and the relevance to the agenda item at hand, the questions may not be discussed during the Board
deliberation which follows.

Anyone wishing to make a comment will be asked to come to the podium to facilitate the audio/visual capabilities 
of the meeting room.  Speakers will be invited to provide their name, but it is not required.   

All public comment offered during public hearings shall be directed, and relevant, to the item of business on which 
the public hearing is being conducted.  Comment during the Public Comment Non-Agenda Items may be directed to 
any issue. 

All public comment shall be limited to four (4) minutes in duration unless special permission has been granted in 
advance by the Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting.  

Public comment shall not be repetitive, slanderous, abusive, threatening, boisterous, or contrary to  the orderly 
conduct of business.  The Supervisor or Chairperson of the meeting shall terminate any public comment which does 
not follow these guidelines.  

(adopted 5/9/2000) 

(revised 5/14/2013) 

(revised 1/8/2018)

Questions and concerns are welcome outside of public meetings during Township Office hours through phone 
calls, stopping in at the front desk, by email, and by appointment. The customer service counter is open from 
Monday-Thursday 8:00 am- 5:00 pm, and on Friday 8:00 am-1:00 pm. Additionally, questions and concerns are 
accepted at all hours through the website contact form found at www.oshtemo.org, email, postal service, and 
voicemail. Staff and elected official contact information is provided below. If you do not have a specific person to 
contact, please direct your inquiry to oshtemo@oshtemo.org and it will be directed to the appropriate person.   

Oshtemo Township 

Board of Trustees 

Supervisor   
 Libby Heiny-Cogswell  216-5220      libbyhc@oshtemo.org  

Clerk   
Dusty Farmer   216-5224       dfarmer@oshtemo.org   

Treasurer   

 Grant Taylor 216-5221     gtaylor@oshtemo.org   

Trustees   

Deb Everett 375-4260     deverett@oshtemo.org  

Zak Ford  271-5513     zford@oshtemo.org

Ken Hudok       548-7002     khudok@oshtemo.org

Township Department Information 
Assessor: 

Kristine Biddle 216-5225  assessor@oshtemo.org

Fire Chief: 

Mark Barnes 375-0487  mbarnes@oshtemo.org

Ordinance Enf: 

Rick Suwarsky  216-5227   rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
Parks Director: 

Karen High 216-5233   khigh@oshtemo.org
     Rental Info      216-5224   oshtemo@oshtemo.org

Planning Director: 

Julie Johnston 216-5223    jjohnston@oshtemo.org

Public Works: 

Marc Elliott 216-5236    melliott@oshtemo.org

Cheri L. Bell 372-2275 cbell@oshtemo.org

mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
http://www.oshtemo.org/
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:libbyhc@oshtemo.org
mailto:dfarmer@oshtemo.org
mailto:ncoshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:dboshtwp@oshtemo.org
mailto:%20%20%20%20%20deverett@oshtemo.org
mailto:zford@oshtemo.org
mailto:khudok@oshtemo.org
mailto:assessor@oshtemo.org
mailto:mbarnes@oshtemo.org
mailto:rsuwarsky@oshtemo.org
mailto:khigh@oshtemo.org
mailto:oshtemo@oshtemo.org
mailto:jjohnston@oshtemo.org
mailto:melliott@oshtemo.org


1 
 

OSHTEMO CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
MINUTES OF A MEETING HELD JUNE 13, 2019 
 
 
Agenda  
 
PUBLIC HEARING: CAMP WHIMSY SPECIAL USE 
CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION FROM DOREEN BELTZ FOR A SPECIAL 
USE AND GENERAL LAYOUT PLAN TO ALLOW A CHILDREN’S BARN CAMP AND 
A LIMITED NUMBER OF SPECIAL EVENTS AS A TEMPORARY OUTDOOR EVENT 
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 5.40 AND 49.220 OF THE TOWNSHIP ZONING 
ORDINANCE. THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ADDRESS IS 2582 SOUTH 6TH STREET 
IN THE RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. PARCEL NO. 3905-28-430-041. 
 
SITE PLAN REVIEW: O’REILLY AUTO PARTS 
CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION FROM MARKETPLACE DEVELOPMENT, 
LLC FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL, TO BUILD A NEW O’REILLY AUTO PARTS 
STORE AT 6297 WEST MAIN STREET. PARCEL NO. 3905-14-405-054. 
 
SITE PLAN REVIEW: BRONSON MEDICAL OFFICE 
CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION FROM BRONSON HEALTHCARE GROUP, 
FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL TO BUILD A NEW MEDICAL OFFICE BUILDING AT 
6210 WEST MAIN STREET.  PARCEL NO. 3905-14-288-011. 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
A meeting of the Oshtemo Charter Township Planning Commission was held Thursday, 
June 13, 2019, commencing at approximately 6:00 p.m. at the Oshtemo Charter 
Township Hall. 
 
ALL MEMBERS  
WERE PRESENT:  Bruce VanderWeele, Chair 
    Ollie Chambers 
    Ron Commissaris 
    Keisha Dickason 
    Dusty Farmer, Secretary 

  Micki Maxwell 
  Mary Smith, Vice Chairperson 

 
Also present were, Julie Johnston, Planning Director, James Porter, Township 

Attorney, and Martha Coash, Meeting Transcriptionist. Nine other persons were in 
attendance. 

 
 
 



2 
 

Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele called the meeting to order at approximately 6:00 p.m. 
and invited those present to join in reciting the “Pledge of Allegiance.” 
 
Agenda 
 
 The Chair determined no changes to the agenda were needed and let it stand as 
published.  
 
Public Comment on Non-Agenda Items 
 
 The Chairperson asked if anyone in the audience cared to address the Board on 
a non-agenda item. Hearing none, he moved to the next item. 
 
Approval of the Minutes of May 23, 2019 
 

Chairperson VanderWeele asked if there were any additions, deletions or 
corrections to the Minutes of May 23, 2019. Hearing none, he asked for a motion. 

 
  Ms. Maxwell made a motion to approve the minutes of May 23, 2019 as 
presented. Mr. Chambers supported the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING: CAMP WHIMSY SPECIAL USE 
CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION FROM DOREEN BELTZ FOR A SPECIAL 
USE AND GENERAL LAYOUT PLAN TO ALLOW A CHILDREN’S BARN CAMP AND 
A LIMITED NUMBER OF SPECIAL EVENTS AS A TEMPORARY OUTDOOR EVENT 
PURSUANT TO SECTIONS 5.40 AND 49.220 OF THE TOWNSHIP ZONING 
ORDINANCE. THE SUBJECT PROPERTY ADDRESS IS 2582 SOUTH 6TH STREET 
IN THE RR RURAL RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT. PARCEL NO. 3905-28-430-041. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next agenda item and asked Ms. 
Johnston for her review of the application. 
 
 Ms. Johnston explained the applicant was requesting Special Use and general 
site layout approval for “Camp Whimsy” an outdoor event to include a barn camp and 
some special occasions.  The barn camp will allow preschool and elementary school 
age children to access the property for a day camp that would focus on nature 
exploration and appreciation.  The camp would be held four days a week (Monday 
through Thursday) from 9:00 am to noon.  The applicant will be utilizing their small 
hobby farm for the camp.  The existing barn facility will be the focal point for the camp 
and the special events, with outdoor activities happening throughout the 27-acre parcel.   
 
 She said the specific request was for the following: 
 



3 
 

• 4-day preschool camp limited to eight children from 9:00 am to 11:00 am. 
• 4-day elementary camp limited to 10 children from 9:00 am to 12:00 noon. 
• Camp will occur Monday through Thursday on the following dates: 

o June 17 – 20, 24 – 27 
o July 8 – 11, 15 – 18, 22 – 25, 28 – 1 
o August 5 - 8 

• Two special events for campers – one in the spring and one in the fall. 
• Five 2-hour opportunities for private barnyard parties/events, limited to 30 

people. 
 
 Ms. Johnston noted the applicant received approval from the Planning 
Commission in 2018 for the barn camp event.  The request at that time was for three 
days a week with two camp times. The applicant’s current submittal has changed to one 
camp per day in 2019.  At the conclusion of the public hearing last year it was decided 
that the barn camp should come back to the Planning Commission as this request was 
unique and may need closer scrutiny to ensure compatibility with neighboring uses. 
 
 She explained the request has also changed in 2019 to include two special 
events for campers and five opportunities for private parties in the barn.  Now that the 
new Agritourism Ordinance has been adopted, Camp Whimsy would fall under the 
Category 3 Special Use.  The scope of this current application meets the parameters of 
the new Ordinance.   
 
 Staff recommended Ms. Beltz submit under the Temporary Outdoor Event 
ordinance this year as she did last year as the Agritourism Ordinance was still under 
review and staff wasn’t sure of the timeliness of adoption and Ms. Beltz desire to start 
her day camp.  Next year, Camp Whimsy can apply for their Special Use approval 
under the Agritourism Ordinance. If approved, the Special Use will remain with the land 
as long as the Camp and events continue in the same manner each year.  
 
 The applicant provided a general layout plan showing the locations of the 
buildings on site, the driveway for drop-off, and parking area for 14 cars at the northeast 
corner of the site near the turnaround. Per the applicant’s written statement, restroom 
facilities will be provided within the barn.  As long as no additional trailers or equipment 
are being brought to the subject property for the special events, the Fire Marshal has no 
concerns with the site.  All ordinance requirements have been met.   
 
 Ms. Johnston said if the Planning Commission approved the special use and 
general layout plan, staff would recommend the following conditions:  
 

1. Camp will occur Monday - Thursday from 9:00 am to 12:00 noon as follows: 
o June 17 – 20, 24 – 27 
o July 8 – 11, 15 – 18, 22 – 25, 28 – 1 
o August 5 - 8 



4 
 

2. The seven special events shall be limited to 30 persons, must have at least 
seven days between events, and must not begin before 8:00 am or extend past 
10:00 pm. 
 

3. A parking lot meeting the Agritourism, Category 3 standards must be developed 
before any of the special events can commence.  A new general layout plan must 
be provided to the Township indicating the placement of the parking lot prior to 
the first special event. 
 

4. If additional equipment or trailers are brought to the site for the special events, 
they must meet the setback requirements of the Rural Residential District and be 
inspected by the Fire Marshal prior to the commencement of the event, if 
needed. 
 

5. Signage will be placed on the property directing traffic to appropriate child drop-
off and parking locations, moving traffic onto the site and away from 6th Street. 
 

 Chairperson VanderWeele asked whether Commissioners had questions for Ms. 
Johnston. 
 
 Ms. Farmer wondered how the required limit of 30 people for retail barn sale 
events would be managed. 
 
 Ms. Johnston acknowledged the limit for these events could not be determined, 
but suggested the Commission might want to alter that condition (#2). The events will 
be limited to three per year and need to occur 30 days apart.  
 
 Hearing no further questions, the Chair asked whether the applicant wished to 
speak. 
 
 Ms. Dori Beltz, 2582 S. 6th Street, thanked the Board and noted there are no 
plans for retail barn events in 2019. She said additional parking will be available off the 
auto loop and involved no land being cleared beyond the current site. She feels 
everything is set up for a good year. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell asked if she is required to obtain state licensing for child care. 
 
 Ms. Beltz said she will not have a large enough number of children at one time to 
be required to obtain state licensing, but that she works with an insurance agent and 
has liability insurance. Separate camps will be provided for different aged children on 
different weeks. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked if there were public comment. Hearing none, 
he moved to Board Deliberations. 
 



5 
 

 Ms. Smith supported the application and felt Camp Whimsy was an excellent 
example of why the Agritourism Ordinance was created. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell expressed concern about 6th Street traffic, but felt the addition of the 
parking lot will be helpful. 
 
 Hearing no further comments, the Chair asked for a motion. 
 
 Ms. Dickason made a motion to approve the application with the five Staff 
conditions as listed, with modification to #2 to reference to the event table in the 
Agritourism, Category 3 ordinance. Ms. Maxwell supported the motion. The motion was 
approved unanimously. 
 
 Ms. Johnston suggested moving ahead with Agenda Item 8, the Bronson 
Healthcare Group application, as the O’Reilly Auto Parts representatives had not yet 
arrived. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele agreed and asked Ms. Johnston for her report on the 
request for site plan review from Bronson Healthcare Group. 
 
SITE PLAN REVIEW: BRONSON MEDICAL OFFICE 
CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION FROM BRONSON HEALTHCARE GROUP, 
FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL TO BUILD A NEW MEDICAL OFFICE BUILDING AT 
6210 WEST MAIN STREET.  PARCEL NO. 3905-14-288-011. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the applicant was requesting Planning Commission approval 
for the development of a new 12,706 square foot medical office for Bronson primary 
care.  This new building will be addressed as 6210 West Main Street and will be located 
on the same four-acre parcel behind the existing Bronson FastCare facility.  A medical 
office is a use permitted by right within the West Main Overlay zone, which would 
generally trigger Zoning Board of Appeals approval.  However, Section 35.70: Review 
Criteria indicates that all development within the Overlay Zone shall be reviewed by the 
Planning Commission.  
 
 She explained the parcel in question is generally flat and has been mostly 
cleared.  A few existing trees can be found around the perimeter of the site. Storm water 
is managed utilizing the natural grade of the site, locating the new detention pond at the 
northeast corner of the parcel.  The required five percent open space is also located in 
this corner of the parcel to the east of the detention pond.  Placing the open space in 
this location provides additional protections to the single-family homes that border the 
site to the north and east. 
 
 Access to the site will be from an existing curb cut on West Main Street that 
serves this parcel and the adjacent Credit Union to the east.  In addition, this access 
point will connect to an east/west access drive that will begin at this curb cut moving 
west through the Bronson, Advia, and Meijer, terminating at 9th Street.  This complies 



6 
 

with the intent of the West Main Overlay, which encourages cross access and limited 
curb cuts on West Main Street. Bronson has agreed to enter into a cross-access 
agreement with Advia once both parcels are developed. 
 
 She noted the landscaping for the site meets all requirements of the West Main 
Overlay, providing the required native plantings.  The required 5% open space will be 
provided along the north boundary. Evergreen trees have been placed along the north 
and east property lines to help screen the building and parking areas from neighboring 
residential uses. In addition, existing trees are preserved in these locations.   
 
 The building will be made primarily of block and brick, with a large glass entry 
feature.  The overall design is similar to the existing FastCare facility, but on a larger 
scale. Staff believes the design, exterior wall materials, and exterior wall colors meets 
the intent of Section 35.50.D.6, and fits into the overall development aesthetic of new 
construction within the West Main Overlay.  
 
 Pedestrian amenities are found throughout the site; she noted connecting the 
medical office with the FastCare building, and connecting this parcel to the pedestrian 
trail planned on the Advia property. 
 
 She indicated the site plan meets all other specific design requirements, such as 
structural setbacks, building size, site circulation, etc., of the West Main Overlay District. 
 
 In general, she said, all other zoning requirements have been met.  Since her 
written report was sent to Commissioners, the photometric plan was updated to resolve 
the building lighting concern and a draft open space dedication document was 
submitted and reviewed by the Township Attorney.  These issues have been resolved. 
The only remaining zoning issue was related to parking.   
 
 Per the requirements of the Off-Street Parking Ordinance, this site should have a 
maximum of 66 parking spaces. The site plan outlines 78 spaces for this medical office. 
Per Section 52.50.I, sites with more than 50 parking spaces may request additional 
spaces beyond the maximum allowance based upon documented evidence of actual 
use and demand provided by the applicant. The ordinance goes on to say the Planning 
Commission should also consider impacts on the property and surrounding properties 
including any natural features before permitting additional spaces.  The applicant has 
provided a letter requesting the additional 12 spaces shown on the site plan.  
 
 Ms. Johnston noted the outstanding concerns to be resolved were:  
 

1. The Planning Commission will need to determine if the additional 12 spaces are 
needed based on the applicant’s request. 

 
2. A deed will need to be recorded dedicating the required open space in perpetuity. 

 
3. A cross-access agreement between Bronson and Advia will be needed once the 

sites are developed.  



7 
 

 Ms. Johnston said if the Planning Commission was amenable to approving the 
site plan, Staff recommended attaching the follow conditions: 
 

1. The open space document must be recorded with the County prior to the 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 
 

2. A cross-access agreement with the adjacent property owner to the west prior to 
the issuance of a certificate of occupancy. 
 

 She added the Planning Commission would also need to render a decision on 
the requested 12 additional parking spaces, which exceed the maximum allowed by the 
Off-Street Parking Ordinance and referred to a letter from Gregory Milliken, AIPC, dated 
May 22, 2019, detailing the need for the extra requested parking spaces. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked if Commissioners had questions. 
 
 Ms. Farmer asked if the number of staff was taken into account. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the Off-Street Parking Ordinance for offices does not consider 
employee counts.  We do have some parking requirements that do consider the number 
of employees on the largest shift, but it was not applicable to this request. 
 
 Attorney Porter said they plan on 25 staff members all the time with 4-7 
additional as needed. Their staffing is different than a lot of other office uses. 
 
 Mr. Commissaris asked about parking lot lighting. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said lighting is addressed on the site plan and is very similar to 
what was approved for the Advia project. 
 
 Hearing no further questions, the Chair asked if the applicant wished to speak. 
 
 Mr. Dan Lewis, AR Engineering explained a Pro Med transfer of physicians from 
Borgess to Bronson requires a new office building. This was an easy site to move 
forward on since the property is already owned by Bronson.  The building design is the 
same as one currently in use in Battle Creek on Helmer Road. He indicated they are in 
agreement with the conditions recommended by staff. Required documents will be 
provided after the site is built and before building occupancy.  He said the number of 
parking spaces requested is needed as a result of learning from their experience at the 
Battle Creek facility. He noted there will be a lot of staff and that the building is designed 
for efficient use.  
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked if there were questions from the Board. 
 
 Ms. Smith asked if FastCare will remain open. 
 



8 
 

 Mr. Lewis said it would remain open; it provides totally separate services. 
 
 In response to a question from Ms. Dickason who wondered whether x-rays, etc. 
will be available at the new location, Mr. Lewis said they would not be provided. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked if anyone from the public cared to speak. 
Hearing no one, he moved to Board Deliberations. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell felt the rationale provided for extra parking was persuasive. 
 
 Hearing no further comments, the Chair asked for a motion. 
 
 Ms. Maxwell made a motion to approve the Bronson Healthcare application for 
site plan approval subject to the two Staff conditions as listed, and the inclusion of the 
twelve extra requested parking spaces. Ms. Farmer supported the motion. The motion 
was approved unanimously. 
  
SITE PLAN REVIEW: O’REILLY AUTO PARTS 
CONSIDERATION OF AN APPLICATION FROM MARKETPLACE DEVELOPMENT, 
LLC FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL, TO BUILD A NEW O’REILLY AUTO PARTS 
STORE AT 6297 WEST MAIN STREET. PARCEL NO. 3905-14-405-054. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele moved to the next item on the agenda and asked Ms. 
Johnston for her report. 
 
 Ms. Johnson indicated the applicant is requesting Planning Commission approval 
for the development of a new retail store for O’Reilly Auto Parts located on vacant 
property addressed as 6297 West Main Street.  Similar to the Bronson application, a 
retail store is a use permitted by right within the West Main Overlay zone, which would 
generally trigger Zoning Board of Appeals approval.  However, Section 35.70: Review 
Criteria indicates that all development within the Overlay Zone shall be reviewed by the 
Planning Commission.  
 
 The West Main Overlay Zone is an optional overlay that allows those properties 
fronting West Main Street the opportunity to develop as commercial instead of 
residential as dictated by the underlying R-2 zoning.  Utilizing this optional zone requires 
the applicant to conform to a higher level of regulatory standards than would be required 
of a property zoned in the C: Local Business District. This is to recognize and support 
the Overlay’s intent to distinguish West Main Street as a significant corridor in the 
Township.  
 
 She said the West Main Overlay has some specific development requirements 
for new construction.  Native landscaping is required along public roadways; building 
setbacks and landscape buffers should be designed as naturalized green spaces, 
incorporating sustainable storm water management features; and the design of storm 

http://online.encodeplus.com/regs/oshtemo-mi/doc-view.aspx?pn=0&ajax=0&secid=1046


9 
 

water management systems shall respond to the natural drainage patterns of the area 
and should incorporate Low Impact Development standards.   
 
 The O’Reilly Auto Parts site plan works to conform to these requirements within 
the limited size and configuration of the site.  The property in question is 1.7 acres and 
contains some significant topography, which will require substantial grading.  Much of 
the site will need to be leveled to allow for the development of a building.  The applicant 
has included the higher elevation areas in their required dedicated open space.  
 
 In addition, she said due to the extensive grading required, many of the existing 
trees will need to be removed.  The applicant has worked to preserve trees primarily 
along the west property line and along West Main Street.  They have also provided a 
robust landscape plan that meets the native planting requirements of the West Main 
Overlay. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said storm water management is going to be handled mostly by an 
underground detention area below the eastern parking lot and drive aisle.  The 
necessary grading provides some design challenges for Low Impact Development.  The 
competing requirements of open space and tree preservation against incorporating 
sustainable storm water management features led to utilizing underground storage.  
The applicant does provide a rain garden within the West Main Street landscape area, 
which does meet the requirements of Low Impact Development. 
 
 The West Main Overlay requires that at least five percent of the site be set aside 
as open space.  As stated, the dedicated open space is planned along the west 
property boundary and also within the West Main landscaped area.   
 

Access to the site will be from an existing curb cut on West Main Street that is 
located on a 22-acre undeveloped piece of property to the east of the subject parcel.  
This complies with the intent of the West Main Overlay, which encourages cross access 
and limited curb cuts on West Main Street. In fact, the subject parcel, the 22-acre 
undeveloped parcel, and the Farm Bureau insurance company east of the subject site, 
all gain access to West Main Street from this curb cut. Utilizing this curb cut will require 
a cross-access agreement between the two property owners.  Our understanding is the 
applicant is working to secure this agreement.  In addition, the applicant has agreed to 
provide an access easement to the neighbor to the west when that property develops.  
A letter to that effect has been provided by the applicant.  
 
 The West Main Overlay also requires building design and exterior wall materials 
to be elevated, creating a design that is complementary and creates a unified 
development image. Ms. Johnston said Staff provided the applicant with pictures of 
Latitude 42 and Bronson Fast Care, which are the two buildings along West Main Street 
that have developed under this Overlay in order to provide an understanding of the 
Township’s expectations with regards to building design and exterior materials.   
 



10 
 

The applicant provided elevations showing primarily fiber cement lap siding and 
cement fiber wall panels.  Some building elevation changes are offered to break up the 
facade, with slightly taller column heights and a peak parapet along the front façade that 
helps screen a flat roof.  She noted the Planning Commission would need to review 
elevation drawings against the Ordinance, as well as the existing construction 
completed under the Ordinance, for consistency. 
 
 She said the site plan meets all other specific design requirements, such as 
structural setbacks, building size, landscaping, etc., of the West Main Overlay District. 
 
 In general, Ms. Johnston said all other zoning requirements have been met.  There 
is one issue related to parking that must be resolved.  Staff provided the following 
calculations in the Staff Report based on 70% net usable square footage of the building 
(retail space and stockroom/storage) and per Section 52.100, only 19 spaces are 
required, as follows:   
 

3,334 sq ft of retail X 70% net = 2,333.8 / 150 sq ft per space = 15.5 spaces 
6,867 sq ft of stockroom X 70% net = 4,806.9 / 1,500 sq ft per space = 3.2 spaces 
Totals 18.7 or 19 spaces 

 
 Per Section 52.50.H, the applicant can develop 110 percent of this number, which 
brings the site to 21 spaces. The applicant has provided 44 spaces, 23 more than allowed.   
 
 Since that time, the applicant has provided a floor plan.  Staff consistently 
calculates net parking requirements from either a 70% calculation of gross floor area or 
through a submitted floor plan.  With the new information, staff was able to calculate a 
maximum parking allowance of 28 spaces, which is still less than the 44 provided on the 
site plan. 
 
 Ms. Johnston pointed out the Off-Street Parking Ordinance does not provide any 
departure from this standard.  Only parking lots with more than 50 spaces can request 
an additional parking allowance from the Planning Commission.  The applicant wished 
to class the entire building as retail, which staff did not agree with. 
 

Additional spaces cannot be increased by the Planning Commission. The 
applicant would have to appeal staff’s interpretation of the Parking Ordinance to the 
Zoning Board of Appeals.  
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                              
 She indicated the concerns of the Public Works and Fire Department have been 
resolved based on the current site configuration.  With the reduction in parking required 
on site, the Public Works department will need to review any changes to the storm 
water management system. 
 
 The site will gain access to West Main Street from an existing curb cut.  The 
applicant intends to improve this access point, requiring work to be completed on 
another’s property.  This work will consist of tree removal, grading, and new asphalt to 



11 
 

the vehicle entrance on their site.  In addition, the improved curb cut will also require 
approval from the Michigan Department of Transportation (MDOT). 
 
 The applicant will also need permission to work outside of their property lines to 
the south of their access point to assist with grading on the site.  The Erosion and 
Sedimentation Control Plan indicates the limits of disturbance, which goes beyond the 
boundaries of their property along the full eastern property line.  
 
 To date, Ms. Johnston said the Township has not received any agreements from 
the neighboring property owner allowing work to be completed on their parcel.  This will 
be needed before work can begin.    
 
 Ms. Johnston provided a list of outstanding items/concerns to be resolved: 
 

1. The Planning Commission will need to determine if the proposed exterior building 
design meets the intent of the West Main Overlay zone. 

 
2. A minimum of 15 parking spaces will need to be removed from the site.  The 

removal of these spaces could alter the storm water management design, 
requiring additional review by the Township Engineer. 
 

3. A note needs to be placed on the lighting plan which indicates when reduced 
lighting will be employed. 

 
4. Agreements for the off-site improvements are still needed as of the date of this 

staff report.  The Planning Commission will need to consider if a condition that an 
agreement is provided will suffice for site plan approval. 
 

5. A cross-access agreement for the use of the existing curb cut on West Main 
Street.  
 

6. Permission from MDOT to work within the road right-of-way. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said if the Planning Commission was amenable to approving the 
site plan, staff recommended attaching the follow conditions: 
 

1. A revised site plan be provided to the Township showing the correct number of 
parking spaces.  If the storm water management plan is altered due to the 
change in parking, the Township Engineer or his designee will review and 
approve the redesigned system.  This condition will be completed before the 
issuance of a building permit. 
 

2. A revised lighting plan with a note indicating when lighting will be significantly 
reduced during non-operational hours of the business, allowing only lighting 
necessary for security purposes (the Planning Commission to determine those 
hours.)  This condition will be completed prior to the issuance of a building 
permit. 



12 
 

 
3. An agreement from the adjacent property owner to the east that allows off-site 

improvements to their property. This condition will be completed before any site 
or building improvements are made on the property. 
 

4. A cross-access agreement with the adjacent property owner to the east that 
allows use of the existing curb cut. This condition will be completed before any 
site or building improvements are made on the property. 
 

5. A permit from MDOT allowing for improvements within the West Main Street 
right-of-way. This condition will be completed before any site or building 
improvements are made on the property. 
 

6. An executed document for the dedication of the open space must be provided to 
the Township before a certificate of occupancy is issued on the building. 

 
 She noted additional conditions may be needed related to the exterior 
appearance of the building if the Planning Commission feels it does not comply with the 
intent of the West Main Overlay Zone. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele asked if there were questions from Commissioners. 
 
 Ms. Farmer commented that the question of 29 parking spaces was not the 
purview of the Planning Commission. She questioned whether the red painted area 
shown on the building drawing would have been considered a sign in the past. She also 
asked about providing a time certain for lighting reduction. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said the red area on the building would not be considered a sign 
and that there is no requirement for exterior building colors.  However, the Planning 
Commission can determine compatibility with the West Main Overlay. 
 
 Attorney Porter explained the sign area is limited to just around the lettering. 
 
 Ms. Johnston said providing a time certain for lighting reduction has been pretty 
standard with past site plan approvals and she would recommend that be included as a 
requirement, likely 10 p.m. to 7 a.m. 
 
 In answer to a question from Mr. Commissaris regarding the parking spaces 
issue, Ms. Johnston said the only option for the Planning Commission currently was to 
approve the 29 spaces determined by staff. The applicant would then be able to 
challenge the staff interpretation before the Zoning Board of Appeals. If the site plan is 
approved tonight, a new site plan would need to be provided with the correct number of 
parking spaces for Staff review. 
 
 Attorney Porter indicated he had reviewed the parking provisions and concurred 
completely with Ms. Johnston’s assessment. 
 



13 
 

 Ms. Smith said the building design is not exactly what she had in mind for the 
Overlay Zone and wondered if the design is a corporate requirement. 
 
 Hearing no more questions, the Chair asked the applicant if he wished to speak. 
 
 Mr. Hunter Smith, Marketplace Development, answered Ms. Smith’s question 
saying the business is a franchise and a prototype building. There are different 
alternatives across the country. O’Reilly hired architects who looked at Latitude 42 and 
FastCare and provided the design as presented. 
 
 In answer to a question from Mr. Commissaris, Mr. Smith indicated there would 
be 4-5 employees working in the store at the same time. He indicated the number of 
parking spaces requested was based on customer counts. 
 
 The Chair asked Mr. Smith what he would prefer as far as moving forward. 
 
 Mr. Smith said he would prefer approval from the Board with the option to go to 
the ZBA for an appeal on the number of parking spaces. 
 
 In answer to a question from Ms. Farmer, Mr. Smith said he did not think it would 
be a problem to change the red paint color on the building exterior. 
 
 Mr. Wise Smith, Marketplace Development, addressed the six conditions for 
approval recommended by Staff and indicated they were in agreement with all of them. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele thanked the applicants for their comments and moved 
to Board Deliberations.  
 
 Ms. Farmer reiterated her opinion that the red paint color was not appropriate in 
the Overlay Zone, which has been in existence about 5-6 years. She felt the parapet 
roof was fine. 
 
 Ms. Smith noted the Overlay Zone is fairly restricted and is concerned that 
projects meet the requirements to provide the desired atmosphere. If that is abandoned 
for one occupant, it will open the door for everyone else. The goal is for a suburban 
look; this building is very commercial looking. 
 
 Ms. Farmer noted that in the Overlay Zone the Board has the authority to make a 
decision each time an application is submitted. 
 
 In answer to a question from Ms. Dickason who wondered whether it was the 
color or the architecture that was objectionable, Ms. Smith indicated the architecture 
was a problem; Ms. Farmer was more concerned with the color. 
 
 Attorney Porter said it is up the Planning Commission to decide whether the 
design meets the Overlay Zone standard; it is a matter of interpretation. 



14 
 

 Ms. Smith suggested tabling the issue so the applicant can check with corporate 
architects to see if a more complementary design compatible with the intent of the 
Overlay Zone can be provided. 
 
 Chairperson VanderWeele felt the Commission should stand its ground in 
requesting a building design with architecture that is compatible with the intentions of 
the Overlay Zone.   
 
 He took a poll of the Board regarding the architecture; the result was 4-3 in 
opposition.  He asked for a motion. 
 
 Ms. Farmer made a motion to table site plan to give the applicant an opportunity 
to submit a revised architectural elevation plan that is compatible with the intent of the 
West Main Overlay Zone to create a unified development image. Mr. Commissaris 
supported the motion. The motion was approved unanimously. 
 
 Mr. Hunter Smith clarified he will request a revised plan to attempt to provide a 
look that is less boxy and more compatible with a more rural character to meet overlay 
zone intentions. He will be in touch with Ms. Johnston to try to return to the Planning 
Committee with a revised plan as soon as possible. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 
 There was no old business to consider. 
 
ANY OTHER BUSINESS 
 
 Commissioners agreed that although there are currently no agenda items 
planned for the regularly scheduled July 11th meeting, they will meet in order to discuss 
other planning items.  The June 27th meeting will include discussion of the draft Lighting 
Ordnance and the draft Maple Hill Overlay Ordinance. 
 
PLANNING COMMISSIONER COMMENTS 
   
 There were no comments from Commissioners. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

Hearing no further comments, Chairperson VanderWeele adjourned the meeting 
at approximately 7:30 p.m.  
 
 
Minutes prepared: June 15, 2019 
 
Minutes approved: ___________, 2019 



 

 

 
 
 
June 18, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
Mtg Date:   June 27, 2019 
 
To:  Planning Commission   
 
From:  Julie Johnston, AICP 
 
Subject: DRAFT Lighting Ordinance  
 
 
The attached document is the most up-to-date DRAFT of the Lighting Ordinance for Planning Commission 
review.  
 
The final concern with the document based on past review meetings was related to lighting ratios within 
the site.  Staff has recommended some amendments to this section of the code.   
 
The intent of a ratio is to help ensure there is consistent lighting within an area, meaning no pockets of 
bright or dark.  In considering this intent and how it relates to site development, staff agrees within many 
of the ordinances reviewed, the Dark Sky Society, and the suggestion by Circuit Electric who reviewed the 
draft ordinance, that we focus the lighting ratio on parking lot areas.  Through the use of maximum lumens 
and the 0.1 foot-candle at the property line, the draft Ordinance is managing much of the light on the site.  
By also including a ratio in parking lots and drive aisle areas, we are ensuring that there is some consistency 
of lighting that will assist with public safety. 
 
I’ve included with this memo the suggestions from Circuit Electric, an internet article from Alliance for 
Lighting Information, and guidelines from the Dark Sky Society (in particular, Page 6) to assist with our 
lighting ratio discussion. 
 
If the Planning Commission is amenable with these final changes, we can set the public hearing for this 
Ordinance. 
 
 
Thank you. 
 
 
  



1 
 

ARTICLE 54 - LIGHTING 
DRAFT 06/27/2019 

 
 
54.10 INTENT 
 
A. Statement of purpose. The purpose of this Article is to regulate the placement and arrangement of 

lighting within the Township. These regulations are intended to: 
 

1. Protect the public health, safety and general welfare by regulating lighting levels; 
 

2. Control light spillover and glare; 
 

3. Minimize the detrimental effect of urban sky glow;  
 

4. Encourage lighting systems which conserve energy and costs; 
 

5. Preserve community character and enhance the appearance of the Township; 
 

6. Provide for nighttime safety, and security. 
 
B. Objectives. Outdoor lighting shall satisfy the following objectives.  

 
1. Avoid excessive light spillover onto any adjacent premises; 

 
2. Be shielded, and downward directed so that the light intensity or brightness will not interfere with 

the enjoyment, health, safety, and welfare of surrounding properties;  
 

3. Control illumination of vertical architectural surfaces. 
 

4. Provide for uniform lighting within sites. 
 

5. Enable the fair and consistent enforcement of these regulations. 
 
54.20  APPLICABILITY 
 
Except as is otherwise provided below, these lighting requirements shall apply to all lighting installed 
on any property within the Township. Any lighting legally in existence before the effective date of this 
Ordinance that does not comply with these requirements shall be considered legal nonconforming 
and may remain, except as detailed in Section 54.80 and subject to the following provisions: 
 
A. Alterations to existing lighting. 

 
1. When poles and support structures are destroyed or removed, they must be replaced with 

poles and supports that comply with all of the provisions of this Article. 
 

2. When luminaries are destroyed or removed, they must be replaced with luminaries that 
comply with all provisions of this Article. 



2 
 

 
B. New parking lots or parking lot additions. When a new parking lot or addition to an existing 

parking lot is constructed, the new lot or lot addition must be provided with lighting in 
compliance with this Article. 
 

C. New structures, additions, or replacements. When a site is improved with new structures, or 
additions to, or replacements of existing structures, the lighting for the new structure, addition, 
or replacement on the site must meet the requirements of this Article.   

 
54.30 DEFINITIONS 
 
A. Ambient lighting - The general overall level of lighting in an area. 

 
B. Baffle or light shield - An opaque or translucent element to screen a light source from direct view. 

 
C. Building canopy - A portion of the building, whether structural or architectural in character, that 

projects outward.  
 

D. Bulb or lamp - The source of electric light. The term "bulb or lamp" is to be distinguished from 
the whole assembly (see Luminaire). 
 

E. Canopy structure - An overhead structure which is designed to allow vehicles or pedestrians to pass 
under it. 
 

F. Color rendering index (CRI) - a scale from 0 to 100 percent measuring a light source's ability to show 
object colors "realistically" or "naturally" compared to a familiar reference source, either 
incandescent light or daylight. 
 

G. Encased – a lamp obscured by translucent sheathing. 
 

H. Existing lighting - Any and all lighting installed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 

I. Exterior lighting - Temporary or permanent lighting that is installed, located, or used in such a manner 
to emit light outside. Fixtures that are installed indoors that are intended to draw attention to the 
exterior of the building from the outside are considered exterior lighting for the purposes of this 
Article. 
 

J. Fixture - The assembly that holds a lamp and may include an assembly housing, a mounting bracket 
or pole socket, a lamp holder, a ballast, a reflector or mirror, and a refractor or lens. 



3 
 

K. Fixture, cutoff – A fixture that allows no emissions above the horizontal plane passing through the 
lowest point on the fixture from where light is emitted.   

 
L. Fixture, non-cutoff – A fixture that allows light to emit beyond the horizontal plan of the lowest point 

of the fixture and/or allows light emissions in all directions. 

 
 
M. Foot-candle - A unit of measurement for quantifying the brightness of illumination produced on a 

surface. One foot-candle is equal to one lumen per square foot. 
 

N. Glare - Harsh, uncomfortably brilliant light caused by the ability to see an unshielded light source. 
 

O. Kelvin rating – A unit to measure the color temperature of a light source, the higher the Kelvin rating 
(expressed in K), the whiter the light source. 
 

P. Lamp - The component of a luminaire that produces the light.  
 

Q. Light pole - The structure to support and elevate a luminaire. 
 
R. Light trespass - Light that is unnecessarily emitted beyond the boundaries of the property on which 

the luminaire is located. 
 

S. Lighting ratio - The ratio of foot-candles from the minimum to the maximum point calculations or 
readings for a given area. This ratio is an indicator of lighting uniformity. The lower the ratio the better 
the uniformity. 
 

T. Luminaire – The complete lighting system, including the lamp and light fixture. 



4 
 

 
U. Lumen - A unit of measurement for quantifying the amount of light energy emitted by a light source 

(power of the light radiated by the light source).  
 
V. Photometric plan - A diagram prepared by a lighting professional that is certified by the National 

Council on Qualifications for the Lighting Professions (NCQLP), or a state licensed professional 
engineer, architect, or landscape architect showing predicted maintained lighting levels produced by 
the proposed lighting fixtures, including any freestanding and building mounted lighting. 
 

W. Recessed - When a light is built into a structure or portion of a structure such that the light is fully cut 
off by the structure to which it is attached. 
 

X. Shielded - A bulb or lamp concealed by a baffle or light shield. 
 

Y. Spotlight - A luminaire designed to light only a small, well defined area or object. 
 

Z. Urban sky glow - The brightening of the night sky due to manmade lighting.  
 

AA. Visibility - Being perceived by the human eye. 
 
54.40 EXEMPTIONS 
 
A. Emergency lighting necessary to conduct rescue operations, support public safety, provide emergency 

medical treatment, to illuminate emergency means of egress, or address any other emergency 
situation. 
 

B. Lighting operated by a public utility or agency during the course of constructing, repairing, or replacing 
public utilities and infrastructure. 
 

C. Temporary construction lighting, provided it is discontinued daily immediately upon completion of 
the work. 
 

D. Temporary holiday decorative lighting, from November 15th through January 5th. 
 

E. Lights on communication towers and other hazards to aerial navigation as may be required by the 
Federal Aviation Administration. 
 

F. Lighting used to illuminate a flag of the United States, subject to Section 54.60.D. 
 

G. Lighting associated with Department of Agriculture recognized agricultural activities. 
 

H. Typical residential light fixtures on residential buildings and associated accessory buildings, which do 
not violate Section 54.50, are exempt from the cut-off requirement when mounted at a height of eight 
feet or less. 
 

I. All outdoor light fixtures existing and legally installed prior to the effective date of this Ordinance. 
 
 



5 
 

54.50 PROHIBITED LIGHTING 
 
A. Lighting of a blinking, flashing, rotating, or fluttering nature, including changes in light intensity, 

brightness or color except for public safety purposes.  
 

B. Beacon and/or search lights except for public safety purposes. 
 

C. Fixtures that direct light upward unless permitted by this Article. 
 

D. Roof mounted lighting. 
 

E. Lighting of an intensity or brightness that interferes with enjoyment, health, safety, and welfare of 
surrounding properties. 
 

F. Unshielded luminous tube, LED, incandescent, or fluorescent lighting as an architectural detail on the 
exterior of any structure or the interior of any windows; including but not limited to rooflines, 
cornices, eaves, windows, and door openings. 
 

 
   (Examples of unshielded tube lighting)  
 
54.60 OUTDOOR LIGHTING STANDARDS 
 
A. General Provisions 

 
1. Cut-Off Fixtures. All luminaires are required to be cut-off fixtures, unless otherwise permitted in 

this Article. 
 

2. Security Lighting. Security or flood lighting shall be attached to buildings and controlled by motion 
sensors, which extinguish within 10 minutes of activation. 
 

3. Direction of Lighting. Lighting plans shall be designed to direct light into the development and 
away from adjacent property. 
 

4. Light Levels at Property Line. Site and area lighting of nonresidential properties shall be designed 
such that light levels do not exceed 0.1 foot-candles at any point along the perimeter of the 



6 
 

property adjacent to residential zoning or uses and 0.5 foot-candles adjacent to all other zoning 
and uses. 
 

5. Shared Parking Lots. Lighting designed to illuminate shared parking lots that span two or more 
parcels shall be exempt from the 0.5 foot-candle requirement at the shared property line only.  
 

6. Parking Lot and Drive Aisle Lighting Ratio. To provide for uniformity of lighting, the ratio of 
maximum to minimum levels of light within the illuminated areas parking lot and drive aisle areas 
of a nonresidential property shall not exceed 4:1 20:1. Exception shall be made for those areas 
along the perimeter of the property where a significant reduction in lighting is expected in order 
to comply with the provisions of the subsection above. 
 

7. Reduced Lighting. Lighting shall be significantly reduced during non-operational building hours, 
allowing only lighting necessary for security purposes. Lighting installations should include timers, 
dimmers, and/or sensors to reduce overall energy consumption and eliminate unneeded lighting 
that affects urban sky glow. The lighting plan shall note when and how this reduction in lighting 
will occur. 
 

8. Color Temperature and Rendering. Lighting for all nonresidential developments shall have a 
minimum color rendering index (CRI) of 65 and a Kelvin rating between 4000-5000k. 

 
B. Pole-Mounted Lighting  

 
1. All pole-mounted luminaires shall be affixed horizontally and angled parallel to the ground. 

 
2. No more than two luminaires shall be allowed per pole. 

 
3. Luminaire height of 15 feet or less shall not exceed 12,000 lumens per luminaire and shall be 

spaced a minimum of 30 feet apart.  
 

4. Luminaire height greater than 15 feet and not exceeding 25 feet shall not exceed 20,000 lumens 
per luminaire and shall be spaced a minimum of 40 feet apart.  

 
5. Luminaire height exceeding 25 feet shall be subject to approval by the reviewing body. The 

applicant must prove, to the reviewing body’s satisfaction, that pole heights exceeding 25 feet 
are needed to ensure public health, safety, and welfare. If permitted, such lighting shall not 
exceed 40,000 lumens per luminaire and shall be spaced a minimum of 50 feet apart.  

 
C. Building-Mounted Lighting  

 
1. Pedestrian walkways and doorways 

 
a. Shall not exceed 14-feet in height.   

 
b. Each luminaire shall not exceed 8,000 lumens and shall be spaced so the lighting for 

pedestrian walkways does not exceed 2.0 foot-candles and entryways do not exceed 6.0 foot-
candles. 

 



7 
 

2. Luminaires used for the sole purpose of illuminating a building façade:  
 
a. May be up to 1.5 foot-candles averaged over the building façade.   

 
b. May be located on the building or be ground-mounted.  

 
c. Light generated from said fixtures shall be appropriately shielded so that no light is emitted 

beyond the building facade.  
 

3. Architectural lighting - The use of architectural features on the building, such as a canopy, which 
prevent the projection of light beyond the architectural feature may satisfy the intent of this 
Section and allow the use of noncut-off fixtures, subject to the approval of the reviewing body. 

 
D. Landscape Features and Green Belt Lighting 

 
1. Landscape luminaires may include uplighting, which is specifically directed at the landscape or 

plant feature.  
 

2. Shall be equipped with shields to help direct light to the landscape or plant feature and to help 
eliminate light spillover and glare.  
 

3. Shall not exceed 300 lumens per luminaire.  
 

4. Shall not exceed a height of 18-inches above grade. 
 
E.  Special Uses 
 

1. Service station/fuel sales canopy structure 
 

a. Luminaires shall be recessed so that the lens cover is flush with the lower surface of the 
canopy and shielded by a fixture or the edge of the canopy so that light is directed downward. 
 

b. As an alternative, indirect lighting may be used where uplighting is reflected from the 
underside of the canopy.  When this method is used, luminaires must be shielded so that 
direct light is focused exclusively on the underside of the canopy. 
 

c. Luminaires shall not be mounted on the top or sides (fascia) of a canopy. 
 

d. Internally illuminated signs in compliance with the Sign Ordinance may be placed on the fascia 
of the canopy. 
 

e. The total light output directly below the canopy shall not exceed 30 foot-candles. 
 

2. Outdoor display areas - The ratio of maximum to minimum foot-candles of light for a site which 
includes outdoor display may increase to 6:1 during hours of operation. 
 
 
 



8 
 

3. Outdoor dining areas 
 

a. Decorative unshielded lighting may be used in outdoor dining areas as long as the lighting 
does not exceed 1.5 foot-candles and is designed to control light spillover and reduce glare to 
adjacent properties. 

 
b. Lighting in outdoor dining areas adjacent to residentially zoned or used land must be 

extinguished by 11:00 pm or when the business closes, whichever is first. 
 
54.70 INTERIOR LIGHTING 
 
Where interior lighting and/or lighting displays are located within 10 feet of a bay of windows, glass doors, 
or other transparent areas of a building facade, walls, or roof (e.g., skylights), the lighting shall be shielded 
or screened to reduce visibility and prevent glare to patrons, individuals on adjacent and nearby 
properties, and/or motorists on adjacent streets.  
 
54.80 EXISTING LIGHTING 
 
All lighting established prior to this Ordinance shall be so arranged as to avoid glare or direct illumination 
onto any portion of any adjacent rights-of-way or onto any adjacent premises.  
 
54.90 ADMINISTRATION 
 
A site lighting plan for uses requiring Site Plan review shall be submitted, in compliance with this Article, 
and shall provide the following information: 

 
A. Proposed location on premises of all outdoor light fixture(s), including all building-mounted lighting, 

architectural lighting, and landscape lighting.  
 

B. Manufacturer specification sheets, cut-sheets, or other manufacturer provided information for all 
proposed luminaires that provides a description of the illumination devices, fixtures, lamps, supports, 
reflectors, and other devices, including lumens produced.   
 

C. The height of all luminaires and poles. 
 

D. A photometric plan showing foot-candle readings every ten feet within the subject site and ten feet 
beyond the property lines, including lighting ratios.  
 

E. If building elevations are proposed for illumination, drawings shall be provided for all relevant building 
elevations showing the fixtures, the portions of the elevations to be illuminated, the illuminance levels 
of the elevations, and the aiming point for any remote light fixture.   

 
 
 



Pole Height Distance Max. Lumens Per Luminaires Number of Luminaries

15 foot or Less 20-30 feet Apart 12,000 No More than 2 Luminaires per Pole

15-25 feet 20-30 feet Apart 20,000 No More than 2 Luminaires per Pole ** 4 Luminaries with township approval

Greater Than 25 feet 40-50 feet Apart 40,000 No More than 4 Luminaires per Pole **Would require Township Approval

Parking Lot Foot Candles Standard (Note 1) Enhanced Security (Note 2)

Min. FC Measure to Grade         (Note 3) 0.2 FC 0.5 FC

Max. FC Measured to Grade      (Note 3) 4.0 FC 7.5 FC

Uniformity Ratio Min/Max         (Note 4) 20:1 15:1

Min. FC Measured at 5 feet above Grade 0.1 FC 0.25 FC

Note: 1 Typical Conditions, Turn off during Non-Use.

Note: 2 May be increased for personal security, Etc. (Requires Township Approval). 

Note: 3 Measured on parking lot surface.

Note 4: Highest measured divided by lowest should not be greater than value shown.

Additional Notes Should be Considered

Color Rendering Index (CRI) Min. of 65 CRI

Kelvin Rating (warm/cool) 4000k-5000k This would help control the different light color that you sometime see

(aka, those ugly yellow sodium fixtues)

juliej
Highlight



��������� ��	
����������������������������

����������������������� �����!��� ���

"##$%&'(�)*+�,$-./$&-�0&)*+1%/$*&2&$)*+1$/3�4%/$*5�$&�6+7$&%&'(583�9%:$7�;<�=($/.>?@�AB�CD@�EFGH�CDFC�IJKDCJ?K�ALMJ?F?N@H�L@HCLJNC�AOCMAAL�IJKDCJ?K�JH�PG�QF?MFCJ?K�CD@�O?JBALQJCG�AB�CD@�IJKDCJ?KAR@L�HAQ@�AB�AL�FII�AB�CD@�HJC@S�T?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�FL@�F?�JQUALCF?C�UFLC�AB�F�NAQUI@C@�H@C�AB�IJKDCJ?K�NLJC@LJF�F?MNF?�DFR@�F�UAHJCJR@�@BB@NC�A?�CD@�VOFIJCG�AB�IJKDCJ?K�J?HCFIIFCJA?HS�WD@�I@R@I�AB�O?JBALQJCG�AR@L�F�HJC@�DAE@R@L�JH?AC�CD@�HFQ@�FH�CD@�O?JBALQJCG�AR@L�UFLC�AB�CD@�HJC@X�HOND�FH�EFIYEFGH�AL�UFLYJ?K�IACHS�WDJH�F?M�ACD@L�PFHJNFHU@NCH�AB�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�FL@�APRJAOHIG�?AC�O?M@LHCAAM�J?�HAQ@�ALMJ?F?N@H�F?M�FL@�HAQ@CJQ@H�KLAHHIGQJHFUUIJ@MS�WDJH�L@FUU@FLF?N@�AB�FHHANJFC@M�ULAPI@QH�MO@�CA�C@ND?JNFI�JK?ALF?N@�JH�QOND�QAL@�BL@VO@?C�F?MHJK?JBJNF?C�CDF?�?@N@HHFLGSWD@�BJLHC�JHHO@�JH�CDFC�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�NF?�P@�M@BJ?@M�J?�QF?G�EFGH�F?M�AR@L�F?G�FL@FS�WD@L@BAL@�F?G�ALMJ?F?N@CDFC�MA@H�?AC�NI@FLIG�HCFC@�EDFC�RFIO@H�FL@�P@J?K�NAQUFL@M�J?�CD@�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJA�JH�C@ND?JNFIIG�J?NAQUI@C@�F?MULFNCJNFIIG�OH@I@HHS�WD@�M@BJ?JCJA?�BAL�ZO?JBALQJCG�LFCJAZ�NF?�RFLG�BLAQ�FR@LFK@[CA[QJ?JQOQ�CA�QF\JQOQ[CA[QJ?JQOQX�F?M�NF?�P@�FUUIJ@M�CA�R@LCJNFI�AL�DALJ]A?CFI�̂AL�@R@?�PACD_�RFIO@H�BAL�@JCD@L�JIIOQJ?F?N@�AL�IOQJ?F?N@�[J?JCJFI�AL�QFJ?CFJ?@M�[�FC�KLFM@�AL�FPAR@�[�AR@L�CD@�@?CJL@�HJC@�AL�UFLC�AB�JCS�WD@�QAHC�NAQQA?�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJA�J?ALMJ?F?N@H�JH�CD@�LFCJA�AB�CD@�QF\JQOQ[CA[QJ?JQOQ�JIIOQJ?F?N@�FC�KLFM@�[�J?JCJFI�[�AR@L�CD@�@?CJL@�HJC@SWD@�UAHHJPI@�LF?K@�AB�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�NF?�QFY@�JC�MJBBJNOIC�CA�O?M@LHCF?M�CD@�JQUIJNFCJA?H�AB�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAHJ?�UFLCJNOIFLS�̀�LFCJA�AB�abc�BAL�FR@LFK@�CA�QJ?JQOQ�JH�LAOKDIG�CD@�HFQ@�FH�F�LFCJA�AB�cdbc�̂CA�cebc_�BAL�QF\JQOQCA�QJ?JQOQS�f@@CJ?K�abc�F?M�cdbc�LFCJAH�FH�NLJC@LJF�EJII�P@�FLAO?M�gd[cddh�QAL@�@\U@?HJR@�CDF?�Q@@CJ?KNLJC@LJF�AB�ibc�F?M�edbc�̂CA�ejbc_S�̀H�L@VOJL@Q@?CH�BAL�O?JBALQJCG�J?NL@FH@X�CD@�FIQAHC�FII�AB�CD@�NAHCH�AB�IJKDCJ?KHGHC@QH�FIHA�J?NL@FH@X�FH�MA�F?G�UAIIOCJA?H�FHHANJFC@M�EJCD�J?HCFIIJ?K�F?M�AU@LFCJ?K�CD@�IJKDCJ?K�HGHC@QSkOLCD@LQAL@�CD@�HUFNJ?K�AB�CD@�NFINOIFCJA?�UAJ?CH�@BB@NCH�CD@�L@HOICJ?K�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJA�RFIO@HS�kAL�@\FQUI@X�FO?JBALQJCG�LFCJA�AB�cdSd�BAL�QF\JQOQ[CA[QJ?JQOQ�QJKDC�P@�@FHG�CA�Q@@C�EJCD�HUFNJ?K�AB�HFG�ed\ed�F?M�QONDQAL@�MJBJNOIC�CA�Q@@C�EJCD�HUFNJ?K�AB�j\jS�WD@�HFQ@�IJKDCJ?K�HGHC@Q�CDFC�ULAMON@H�lSd�QF\[CA[QJ?�A?�F�cd\cdHUFNJ?K�QJKDC�@FHJIG�ULAMON@�cdSd�AL�DJKD@L�EJCD�g\g�HUFNJ?KX�@HU@NJFIIG�JB�CD@�QAO?CJ?K�D@JKDC�AB�CD@�IOQJ?FJL@JH�O?M@L�eg�B@@CS�̀?G�HU@NJBJNFCJA?�AB�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�HDAOIM�J?NIOM@�NA?HJM@LFCJA?�AB�CD@�HUFNJ?K�ABNFINOIFCJA?H�UAJ?CHS�>?@�L@FHA?FPI@�HAIOCJA?�JH�CA�HUFN@�CD@�NFINOIFCJA?�UAJ?CH�PFH@M�A?�CD@�D@JKDC�AB�CD@IOQJ?FJL@HX�HFG�?A�QAL@�CDF?�A?@[DFIB�AL�A?@[VOFLC@L�AB�CD@�QAO?CJ?K�D@JKDCS�WDJH�NF?�APRJAOHIG�P@NAQ@�QJNLA[QF?FK@Q@?C�AB�CD@�IJKDCJ?K�M@HJ?K�F?M�HOPQJCCFIX�J?NL@FHJ?K�CD@�NAHCH�AB�UIF?�L@RJ@EX�F?M�CD@L@BAL@�A?@�AB�CD@ÂBC@?�DJMM@?_�NAHCH�AB�FUUIGJ?K�O?JBALQJCG�NLJC@LJF�J?�ALMJ?F?N@HSÌI�AB�CD@H@�@\FQUI@�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�FL@�CA�P@�FUUIJ@M�CA�CD@�L@I@RF?C�UFLC�AB�CD@�HJC@X�?AC�AR@L�CD@�@?CJL@�HJC@SmALYJ?K�EJCD�CD@H@�MJHCJ?NC�FL@FH�Q@F?H�CD@�@?CLG�LAFMX�UFLYJ?K�IAC�F?M�EFIYEFGH�NF?�@FND�P@�FM@VOFC@IG�F?MO?JBALQIG�JIIOQJ?FC@M�EJCDAOC�DFRJ?K�CA�P@�@\UIJNJCIG�L@IFC@M�CA�@FND�ACD@L�[�AL�EALH@X�IJQJC@M�PG�CD@�RFIO@�FCHAQ@�ACD@L�UAJ?C�CDFC�NAOIM�P@�FII�CD@�EFG�FNLAHH�CD@�HJC@S�̀UUIGJ?K�O?JBALQJCG�LFCJAH�CA�F?�@?CJL@�HJC@�NF?�P@@BB@NCJR@X�POC�CD@�RFIO@H�F?M�FUUIJNFCJA?�?@@M�CA�P@�L@FHA?FPI@�AL�CD@G�P@NAQ@�C@ND?JNFIIG�ELA?K�F?M�ULFNCJNFIIGOH@I@HHS�WDJH�JH�@HU@NJFIIG�CLO@�BAL�F?G�ALMJ?F?N@�CDFC�FIHA�J?NIOM@H�L@HCLJNCJA?H�BAL�IJKDCJ?K�FC�CD@�ULAU@LCG�IJ?@XP@NFOH@�CDJH�NAQPJ?FCJA?�AB�L@HCLJNCJA?H�NF?�NL@FC@�H@R@L@�IJQJCFCJA?H�BAL�IJKDCJ?K�HGHC@QH�[�HAQ@CJQ@H�QFYJ?K�JCJQUAHHJPI@�CA�Q@@C�CD@�UOPIJHD@M�nopq̀ �L@NAQQ@?MFCJA?HS



��������� ��	
����������������������������

����������������������� �����!��� ���

"#$%&&'(�%))&'#$*�+$#,-./#0'�.%0#-1�0-�2$0#.2�1#021�3%$�.24+#.2�&#*50#$*�%.2%1�05%0�-052.6#12�$227�$-0�82#&&+/#$%027�%0�%&&(�-.�0-�&-62.�&292&1:�"-.�2;%/)&2(�#,�%�+$#,-./#0'�.%0#-�#1�.24+#.27�0-�82�$-�/-.2�05%$�<=�,-./%;#/+/>0->/#$#/+/(�052$�#,�052�/#$#/+/�#&&+/#$%$32�%0�052�27*2�-,�052�).-)2.0'�#1�=:<�,3(�052�/%;#/+/%&&-627�%0�%$'�)-#$0�-$�052�1#02�#1�052�<:=�,3:�?-�052�27*2�-,�%�1#02�/%'�$227�0-�82�@-92.>#&&+/#$%027@�0-�=:A�,3�1-05%0�052�/%;#/+/�,-.�1-/2�-052.�&-3%0#-$�-$�052�1#02�3%$�82�%1�5#*5�%1�A:=�,3:�B5#1�122/1�0-�3-$0.%7#30�052�*-%&1-,�052�&#*50#$*�-.7#%$321�8'�#$3.2%1#$*�#&&+/#$%0#-$�%0�052�27*2�-,�).-)2.0'�(�%1�62&&�%1�.24+#.#$*�+$$23211%'&#*50#$*�%&-$*�6#05�%�3-..21)-$7#$*�#$3.2%12�#$�2$2.*'�+12�%$7�&#*50�)-&&+0#-$:B5#1�1#02�#1�).-9#727�%1�%�)+8&#3�12.9#32�8'�.21-7%$32�)+8&#15#$*�3-:�%$7�$-�*+%.%$022�#1�#/)&#27�-.�).-9#727:B5#1�)%*2�#1�12.927�C�/%#$0%#$27�8'�C�DEFG�HIEJKLM�NJ�OP�QRS�TU�VW��



�

���������	
��
����

������
��������
����	��������
���

���
����
 ��
 !"#�$�
%�$$��&&'''(����)��)!"#�$�(!�*&+

,--.���)�
*/#��0#1�)
��2�
���1
��2�0!���
#1
"!1)/0$�$#!1
'#$�
0#*�$#1*
��!3�))#!1�0)
%'#$�
�4���#�1"�
#1
��2�0!�#1*
*!!�
0#*�$#1*
�0�1)+
$!
�#�
"!55/1#$#�)
'#)�#1*
$!
"!1$�!0
0#*�$
�!00/$#!1
�1�
���)��2�
$��
1#*�$
)��( 6789::;
<=>?8=@>A?:7<9
BC
DE;CF7<<G
9CA=>@C9
H=8?
;C>E;9
8:
I<EDCJC@8K
=@8C@A=8GK
8=J=@>K
97;E8=:@K
E@9
D:<:;L

M::9
<=>?8=@>
H=<<NOP;:J:8C
QEFC8GRSTUV
WXYZ[\
X]
̂T[
̂V_V]]̀UXWa\
bV[[VU\c

de
̂T[
fV]XŶVf
̀̂f
X̂][̀WWVf
_TUUV_[Wag
ĥ]̀eV
YẀUV
_̀ 
̂UV]hW[g
UVfh_X̂Y
[ZV
VeeV_[
Te
WXYZ[X̂Y
iZX_Z
_̀ 
̂_T̂[UXbh[V
[T
̀__XfV̂[]
̀̂f
ZX̂fVU
jX]XbXWX[ac
kXYZ[X̂Y
[Z̀[
X]
[TT
bUXYZ[
X̂[VUeVUV]
iX[Z
[ZV
VaVl]
̀bXWX[a
[T
̀f̀m[
[T
f̀UnVU
̀UV̀]cOQEoC
p:@CGqfZVUX̂Y
[T
mUTeV]]XT̂ ẀWa
UV_TrrV̂fVf
WXYZ[
WVjVW]
mUTjXfV]
̀fVsh̀[V
XWWhrX̂̀[XT̂c

tZXVWfVf
eXu[hUV]
iX[Z
VeeX_XV̂[
WXYZ[
bhWb]
̀UV
rTUV
_T][vVeeV_[XjV
bV_̀h]V
[ZVa
h]V
WV]]
V̂VUYa
ba
fXUV_[X̂Y
[ZV
WXYZ[
[TìUf
[ZV
YUTĥfc



tVV
[ZX]
iVb]X[V
eTU
_T][
_Trm̀UX]T̂]w
Z[[mwxxiiiĉV[̀__ĉV[xymThW]V̂xWXYZ[_T][cZ[rWO z:@AC;oC
{E87;E<
|CA:7;DCA


d̂̀ mmUTmUX̀[V
TU
Vu_V]]XjV
WXYZ[X̂Y
ì][V]
ThU
WXrX[Vf
̂̀[hÙW
UV]ThU_V]
̀̂f
mTWWh[V]
[ZV
̀XU
̀̂f


ì[VU
ba
ĥ V̂_V]]̀UXWa
bhÛX̂Y
ThU
WXrX[Vf
]hmmWa
Te
eT]]XW
ehVW]cO}C
}C88C;
{C=>?B:;A~u_V]]XjV
TU
rX]fXUV_[Vf
WXYZ[X̂Y
_̀ 
̂X̂[UhfV
T̂
[ZV
mUXj̀_a
Te
T[ZVU]
iZV̂
WXYZ[
TU
YẀUV
[UV]m̀]]V]
TjVU
mUTmVU[a
WX̂V]cO|C8E=@
z:JJ7@=8G�A
z?E;ED8C;
E@9
|C97DC
Q�G><:H�hU
_WV̀U
jXVi
Te
[ZV
f̀Un
][̀UUa
̂XYZ[
]na
X]
̀
UV]ThU_V
[T
bV
mUV]VUjVf
̀̂f
mUT[V_[Vfc

t[Ùa
`̂f
Vu_V]]XjV
WXYZ[X̂Y
_T̂[UXbh[V]
[T
�WXYZ[
mTWWh[XT̂�g
_Wh[[VUg
̀̂f
ĥ^̀[hÙW
�]na
YWTi�cOP;:8CD8
�D:<:>G
:F
�<:;E
E@9
�E7@E�V]V̀U_Z
][hfXV]
X̂fX_̀[V
[Z̀[
̀U[XeX_X̀W
̂XYZ[
WXYZ[X̂Y
fX]Uhm[]
[ZV
rXYÙ[X̂Yg
eVVfX̂Yg
̀̂f
bUVVfX̂Y
Z̀bX[]
Te
r̀ â
iXWfWXeV
]mV_XV]g
̀]
iVWW
̀]
YUTi[Z
m̀[[VÛ]
Te
[UVV]c
tVV
UVeVUV̂_V]
X̂
�ZV
~_TWTYX_̀W
�T̂]VshV̂_V]
Te
qU[XeX_X̀W
�XYZ[
kXYZ[X̂YcO|C97DC
�CE<8?
|=A�AkXYZ[
̀[
̂XYZ[
̂T[
T̂Wa
fX]Uhm[]
aThU
]WVVm
bh[
̀W]T
X̂[VUeVUV]
iX[ZaThU
_XU_̀fX̀̂
UZa[Zr]c
�V_V̂[
UV]V̀U_Z
X̂fX_̀[V]
[Z̀[
X̂[Uh]XjV
WXYZ[X̂Y
r̀a
UVfh_V
[ZV
mUTfh_[XT̂
Te
rVẀ[T̂X̂g
̀
bV̂VeX_X̀W
ZTUrT̂Vg
̀̂f
̀
UV]hW[X̂Y
ÙX]V
X̂
[ZV
Ù[V]
Te
bUV̀][
̀̂f
T[ZVU
_̀ _̂VU]c�@D<79C9N

�L

�=E>;EJA
:F
�DDCI8EB<C��@EDDCI8EB<C
�=>?8=@>
�=�87;CA


�L

�:H
8:
�CoC<:I
E@
�DDCI8EB<C
�=>?8=@>
P<E@



�L

�CF=@=8=:@A
:F
�7<<
z78
6FFK
Q?=C<9C9K
E@9
|�p
A=>@
<=>?8=@>
�=�87;CA


�L

�=>?8=@>
P<E@
Q7BJ=AA=:@A


�L

|CD:JJC@9C9
�<<7J=@E8=:@
�CoC<A
F:;
oE;=:7A
8EA�A



�

�������������	
�
��������������������������������������������������������������������������������

� !"#!$%�&'(#)*%+�',�-'.�/#*0 122222345�6789�:7;<:�=:=;>9?;<:�48@@:?=94�A79�BA8::C;8>�7AAB�79�DA8::6�4E?=:F=FG�:?HE>�A?I>89=4J��KL;=�678�E<M=�4=:=;>=F�A?I>89=4�NE?;E�<9=�;7O@<>?P:=�N?>E�6789�<9;E?>=;>89=�<LF�;7OO8L?>6Q�;7L><;>�>E=�O<L8A<;>89=9R4�9=@9=4=L><>?M=�>7�4==�<�4<O@:=�7A�>E=�A?I>89=S4T<LF�>7�<45�A79�<�A9==�:?HE>?LH�@:<LJ��UA�678�E<M=�<�V3W�A?:=Q�>E=�@:<L�;<L�P=�=<4?:6�@97M?F=F�?L�<�4E79>�@=9?7F�7A�>?O=J��22222��X74>�:?HE>?LH�O<L8A<;>89=94�E<M=�3@@:?;<>?7L�W=@<9>O=L>4�NE?;E�N?::�=I=;8>=�A9==�:?HE>?LH�@:<L4�>7�O==>�:7;<:�:?HE>?LH�;7F=4J��Y==�>E?4�N=P4?>=�A79�:?L54�>7�O<L8A<;>89=94Z��E>>@Z[[NNNJF<95456J79H[O;[@<H=JF7\4?>=]<H=UF̂ _̀abbc79HUF̂?F4<Y<O@:=�7A�d=P�9=><?:=94ZNNNJ4><996L?HE>:?HE>4J;7O�<LF�NNNJH9==L=<9>E:?HE>?LHJ;7O



�

���������	�
�������������
�����������
����������������������

��������
�������������������������� �� �!��
���������������"���������������� ������������#�������$%&'(�()*+%,�,-./'-�0)-�&1-&(�.*1�2)/3)�/%%+4/'&0/*'�/(�5%&''-,6�70-4/8/'9�-&3)�&1-&�:-696�5&1;/'9�%*0<�,**12&=(<�2&%;2&=(<�(/9'&9-<�.*%/&9->�2/0)�0)-�&'0/3/5&0-,�)*+1(�*.�+(-6�?*44-13/&%�*+0,**1�%/9)0/'9�()*+%,�@-�+(-,�.*1�(&.-�5-,-(01/&'�5&((&9-�&',�51*5-10=�/,-'0/./3&0/*'<�&',�%/0�,+1/'9�&30/A-�@+(/'-((�)*+1(�&',�()+0�*..�&.0-12&1,6�B��������
��������������������������������������������
�������"�#�����:C--�D55-',/E��>6��C5-3/.=�7FC�:7%%+4/'&0/'9�F'9/'--1/'9�C*3/-0=>�GH+%%�?+0�I..G�,-(/9'&0-,�*1�J.+%%=�()/-%,-,K�./E0+1-(<�(*�0)&0�'*�%/9)0�/(�-4/00-,�&@*A-�0)-�%*2-(0�%/9)0�-4/00/'9�5&10�*.�0)-�./E0+1-6�L*5�4*+'0-,�(/9'�%/9)0/'9�/(�1-3*44-',-,�2/0)�GMNOG�:,/()>�0=5-�()/-%,(<�&',�&/4-,�(*�0)&0�0)-�%/9)0�.&%%(�-'0/1-%=�*'�0)-�(/9'�&',�/(�5*(/0/*'-,�(*�0)&0�0)-�%/9)0�(*+13-�:@+%@>�/(�'*0�A/(/@%-�.1*4�&'=�5*/'0�*..�0)-�51*5-10=�*1�/'0*�0)-�1*&,2&=�0*�1-,+3-�9%&1-6��H*1�-&3)�*'-�(P+&1-�.**0�*.�(/9'<�+(+&%%=�'*�4*1-�0)&'�QRR�%+4-'(�/(�'-3-((&1=�.*1�9**,�A/(/@/%/0=6�����S�T�
����������������
�������#����U�#
������V��?*45&30�.%+*1-(3-'0�:Q�RRW>�*1�X/9)�$1-((+1-�C*,/+4�/(�1-3*44-',-,�+'%-((�0)-�%/9)0�/(�4*0/*'�(-'(*1�&30/A&0-,<�/'�2)/3)�3&(-�/'3&',-(3-'0�*1�0)-�/'(0&'0�(0&10�3*45&30�.%+*1-(3-'0�@+%@(�3&'�@-�+(-,6��O-0&%�X&%/,-�:,+-�0*�/0(�)/9)-1�3*(0(<�-'-19=�+(-<�/45&30�*'�0)-�-'A/1*'4-'0<�&',�91-&0-1�3*'01/@+0/*'�0*�G(;=�9%*2G>�/(�,/(3*+1&9-,<�&(�2-%%�&(�%/9)0�(*+13-(�1&0-,�*A-1��RRR�W-%A/'Y�&',�*+0,&0-,�O-13+1=�Z&5*1�@+%@(�&1-�51*)/@/0-,6[�\��
�!��]��#�����]������
���#������������̂��� ���̂� ��������������̂�������D+0*4&0/3�3*'01*%(�0+1'�*..�%/9)0(�2)-'�'*0�'--,-,6��D%%�%/9)0(�()*+%,�@-�-E0/'9+/()-,�'*�%&0-1�0)&'�*'-�)&%.�)*+1�&.0-1�0)-�3%*(-�*.�@+(/'-((6��D,,/0/*'&%�4*0/*'�(-'(*1�&30/A&0-,�%/9)0/'9�3&'�@-�+(-,�.*1�-4-19-'3=�&33-((6��DA*/,�G,+(;_0*_,&2'G�(-'(*1(�2/0)*+0�&�4/,,%-�*.�0)-�'/9)0�()+0�*..�3*'01*%6��N/9)0(�&%*'-�2/%%�'*0�(-1A-�0*�G51*0-30G�51*5-10=�&',�&1-�&�5**1�G(-3+1/0=G�,-A/3-6��FE&4/'-�*0)-1�4-&'(�*.�51*0-30/'9�51*5-10=�&',�0*�,/(3*+1&9-�31/4/'&%�&30/A/0=6���N-0�=*+1�%*3&%�5*%/3-�;'*2�0)&0�=*+�)&A-�&�J%/9)0(�*+0K�5*%/3=�(*�0)&0�0)-=�3&'�/'A-(0/9&0-�/.�0)-=�(--�%/9)0(�*1�&30/A/0=�&.0-1�)*+1(6���̀�� �������������������"�#������N*3&0-�./E0+1-(�'*�3%*(-1�0*�0)-�51*5-10=�%/'-�0)&'�.*+1�0/4-(�0)-�4*+'0/'9�)-/9)0�*.�0)-�./E0+1-<�&',�'*0�0*�-E3--,�0)-�)-/9)0�*.�&,a&3-'0�(01+30+1-(6��:FE3-50/*'(�4&=�@-�4&,-�.*1�%&19-1�5&1;/'9�&1-&(<�3*44-13/&%�8*'-(�&,a&3-'0�0*�)/9)2&=(<�*1�.*1�./E0+1-(�2/0)�91-&0-1�3+0�*..�()/-%,/'9�@-)/',�0)-�5*%-�4*+'0�/'�3*44-13/&%�8*'-(6>b��� ���
����������������������
���̂������c
�������������d���N/4/0�%/9)0�0*�(5/%%�&31*((�0)-�51*5-10=�%/'-(6��N/9)0�%-A-%(�&0�0)-�51*5-10=�%/'-�()*+%,�'*0�-E3--,�R6e�.**03&',%-(�:.3>�&,a&3-'0�0*�@+(/'-((�51*5-10/-(<�&',�R6Rf�.3�&0�1-(/,-'0/&%�51*5-10=�@*+',&1/-(6��g0/%/0=�%-&(-,�.%**,%/9)0�./E0+1-(�4*+'0-,�*'�5+@%/3�+0/%/0=�5*%-(�/'�0)-�5+@%/3�1/9)0_*._2&=�()*+%,�'*0�@-�+(-,6��h�\���������������� �#�����
����6��N/9)0�%-A-%(�&',�+'/.*14/0=�1&0/*(�()*+%,�'*0�-E3--,�1-3*44-',-,�A&%+-(<�5-1�7FCiD�M$_���*1�QR6�:C--�D55-',/E�f<�M-3*44-',-,�7%%+4/'&0/*'�N-A-%(�.*1�A&1/*+(�0&(;(6>�GN+4-'�3&5G�1-3*44-',&0/*'(�.*1�&1-&(�0*�@-�/%%+4/'&0-,�&1-�&(�.*%%*2(j��3*44-13/&%�51*5-10/-(�/'�'*'_+1@&'�3*44-13/&%�8*'-(�k�Qf<RRR�%+4-'(�5-1�&31-Y�.*1�51*a-30(�/'�1-(/,-'0/&%�&',�NlI�8*'-(�k�eR<RRR�%+4-'(�5-1�&31-6��H*1�1-(/,-'0/&%�51*5-10/-(j��.*1�(+@+1@&'j��fR<RRR�%+4-'(�5-1�&31-�3&5<�&',�/'�+1@&'�&1-&(j�eRR<RRR6m���n�����������������o*+1�$%&''/'9�p-5&104-'0�&',�%*3&%�%/9)0/'9�(&%-(�1-51-(-'0&0/A-(�3&'�&((/(0�=*+�/'�*@0&/'/'9�0)-�'-3-((&1=�/'.*14&0/*'�.*1�9**,�%/9)0/'96���H*1�%&19-�51*a-30(�*A-1�ef<RRR�%+4-'(j��91-&0-1�-'-19=�3*'(-1A&0/*'�&',�3*'01*%�*.�%/9)0�5*%%+0/*'<�%/9)0�01-(5&((�&',�9%&1-<�4&=�@-�&3)/-A-,�2/0)�0)-�)-%5�*.�&�51*.-((/*'&%�%/9)0/'9�,-(/9'-1�2/0)�G,&1;�(;=G�%/9)0/'9�5%&'�-E5-1/-'3-6�q���������������

�����������������#
��������#������������n������� �
������C+@(0/0+0/*'(�@=�-%-301/3/&'(�&',�3*'01&30*1(�&1-�3*44*'�&',�()*+%,�'*0�@-�&33-50-,6��H/'&%�D551*A-,�C/0-�$%&'(���2/%%�'*0�&%%*2�&,,/0/*'&%�-E0-1/*1�./E0+1-(�*1�(+@(0/0+0-(�2/0)*+0�1-A/-2(6��rs�����������������
���������������������������

# ����������#���������$1*A/,-�/'0-1/*1%/9)0/'9�5)*0*4-01/3(�.*1�0)-�@+/%,/'9t(�5-1/4-0-1�&1-&(<�,-4*'(01&0/'9�0)&0�0)-�/'0-1/*1�%/9)0/'9�.&%%(�(+@(0&'0/&%%=�2/0)/'�0)-�@+/%,/'9�&',�'*0�0)1*+9)�0)-�2/',*2(6��D.0-13%*(/'9<�/'0-1/*1%/9)0/'9�0)&0�-E0-',(�*+0,**1(�'--,(�0*�@-�-E0/'9+/()-,�@=�0)-�+(-�*.�()+0�*..�0/4-1(6��



�

����������	��	
��������	��������������	���	�����	������	����������	��	�� 	������!
" �����	���	����	��������	��	�������������	���������	��	���	#�����������	��	��	���	���$	��%��	��	��	�#�����	��&�	���	�������	��	���	�������	�������	%���	��	��#����%	���	��%��	������	��	����	���	'()	�	��	����$	'(	��%����	����$	���	����*����!	" +�	���	#���������	��	�����	��	���&���	���	����	����	�������������	���		�������	,���	�����		���#������-�	���	�����$��%	����������	�����	��	��	#���	$����	��	������	��	�����#����	��		&����	�����������		������	����������			�������	�����������	��	��������	��	����		#����	���	��	��%��	�#�����	��	���	������	��������	���#	���	�#�	,����-	��		��������%	���#����	��	����������	��	����������	��	���������	���#	��	���	��	���	��������	��	���.�����	����$	���	����*����!			/���	��	��	�����#����	��		������	�����	��		&����	�����#���	��	�	�������%	�#���!	"  ����������	��	�����	�����������&��	��	���&���	�����%����	��	��%��	��������	�	����	�������	�	$���	�	���������	������#��%	���	�������������	������	����	����	�������������	��	�����	��������!				/����	+0�	�����	#�	��	�������	���	��#������	��		��#�����	���%�#������11$$$!2���!��#1�����'!��#�" 3����#�����	������	���	���������	���%����	��%��	��������	��	$��%���	��	���	&�����	�	�+0��	������	����	��4����	��	�����%�	#����������5	$�������!		" ��������	#���	��	��������	���������	��	���	���	�����#	��	���	�������	��	��&��	$���	���	%�����!		0���������	��	�����	%�&��	���	��%�	��%����%	$����	��4�����	&������	��%����%�							��� �	��%�	��%����%	�������														 								



�

���������	
������������������������������������������ !����"��#��$� � ����%�&���&��'�#����%(!���$����"��� ����'����������"������������$��&��������)����*��������#��#����+���������������,�����-��������*����!��&� �"�� �#�'�� ������!����#���.��� �'������������'�����������'��'&�������� �#��#�!� ��&� ���������������+�&�������#��/�'�� ���&�!����&!�0����!�#������������ ����"��!���#� ��� �'������� �"%�����'��!� �#����!!�����.�!&'���!������'����'�������������0��1��%�������������&��'�&���!�'���#��$� �������#���������'���%�&�!����#��#��� �!����#���!.����'����������%�&����'�����2&�������!0��345 �������������#����!��&� ���'�& ����678��������#��#�!� ���������������#��$� �!��������������������������,9 �%#���� ��&�"�������&���������2&�#�����3��+�&��!5.���'�& ��������:'&������'����'����!��'!:.��� �'���������&��'�&������ ��� ����&�"��3!50�9 -��#�!�&�'���%#��3"&�"��%#�.��0�0������#��!!&���!� �&�5.��&�����&�#&�.��� ��������0�9 1�&������������������ �!���'������ �������������!��#��#���%������������'���&�������09 �%#�!����������� �$�'�!�&!� ����'�������������&�!�!����������&��������.��!�������!�����#��#�!� ���&�!��������'����+�&��������"���#����� 09 ������-&���!�������'����+�&��.��� �������!2&�������������������!����"�����&������ 0��;���#��/�'�!�������������'�����'����<���!.������&���!�#��������'������"�����.���� ������+'�� �=�.>>>��&���!0��;���#��/�'�!������!� ����������-?@�<���!,��4>.>>>��&���!09 ;�������#���!����������������������+�&��!,��A�B��'&�������)&����%��� �'����������'�� �����$��!�����������������#���.��������������+��&�.��$�������� ������&�.��!�������!�����&��������%������������+��&����������&�.��� ��$��������������&����$��!C03=5 -�����������&��'�&���D!&##��� �!#�'���'�����!�3:'&��!����!:5��������'�& ��#�������#�!����������+�&��!.��� �'����������'������� �:'&������'����'����!��'!:����������+�&��03E5 ;���'�� ���F�!���"&����.�#��������������������$��!��������'�� ��!�����������&� .�������� �!������ ���&������������!���������#��#�!� ���+�&��!0��1�+��&�����&�����'����$��!�!��&� �"���+#��!!� ��������'�� ������!&������!��������� ��������!����!�����������'�� ������ ���!�����$��%���$��������D�����!2&���0��������� �!�������'�& ��������'�����"&����!����������!�&�'�!�3�0�0�#������&��� .��������&��� .�!���.��� �!�����������!05��)��������'�� ������ �����!���$�������"�%�� �����#��#���%�����!0C��3G5 H����2&�!�� �"%�������$�����������'%.���!�������������������������#����!!�������������#���.�����������������!��������.��!���� � ��������������������������!��!��� �� !03�5 A����$�������������#�'��!�����������%�"����2&��� ��!����������#�'����������+����������������#��#�!� ���������.���&��.��� �����������!I%0��-�'���������!#�'��!�!��!���$���������������������������#��+����%�������&���#��!��$�!�����!�������'����"!��$������!����:F��I�)I%�*��I!:.���� !����"���� �'��� 03J5 @������A##��$� �*�������!��&� �"������ ���������!&"!���&����!.��  �����!.����'�����!���%�"���� �������&��#������##��$���"%�������$��������&������%0��C����!�������������'���"���"����� �������������&��'�&���.�%�&�����������!&##����.�����������&��'�&���(!���#��!������$�0



�

�����������	
���������	������	���	������	��������		�����	��	 !"!#$	��	���%"!&�#!�&'	"��$%(�)	!&	���#*�&)��$	+�*,	�#	-(�%&)	��.��	%&��$$	&�#�)/0123	4561																																																																			4789																:;<	<;	6=>66?@A9		4><B76	CDBE?BF8	GF<51F>6																																							H9I			J>															K			J>4LL5;1>M 																																		I9H	J>H9		N12	O<1<B;F	4LL5;1>M 													 		H				J>P9		N12	O<1<B;F	QDRL	4561																																																												178@		K				J>S9		N12	O<1<B;F	O657B>6	4561		 																		1789		P				J>K9		OB?6T1E32 I9H	J>												K		J>										�9		OD5J1>6	;J	2B8F2	 																										H				J>���		U.�(�-�VW!&!"%"VX&!��("!#Y	Z�#!�	 !"!#$	��(	[�(\!&-	 �#$/]9		QD̂EB>	Q153BF8	_;<2	̀̀	F;<	<;	6=>66?@4765186													aBFBRDR									 				bFBJ;5RB<c	d1<B;		ea1=	<;	aBFf478	<;	aBFg		I9h																							I9H																					 			HI@A	f	S@A]]9		Q5B71<6	Q153BF8	_;<2	̀̀	F;<	<;	6=>66?@4765186													aBFBRDR											 			bFBJ;5RB<c	d1<B;	ea1=	<;	aBF	f	478	<;	aBFg		I9K																					I9AP																			 		 			HI@A	f	S@AiZ/����	]J	BEEDRBF1F>6	85B?	EB8M<BF8	LE1F2	>1FF;<	̂6	567B6T6?	;5	BJ	JB=<D562	?;	F;<	L5;7B?6	LM;<;R6<5B>2	1F?	D̂Ê2	156	DF?65	HIII	EDR6F2j	D26	<M626	8DB?6EBF62@k�		[���	$l���	��	&�	-(��#�(	!&	l�!-l#	#l�&	��%(	#!"�$	#l�	)!$#�&*�	#�	#l�	m(�m�(#Y	�!&��n�		W�o!"%"	 %"�&	 �.��$	��(	)!���(�&#	�!o#%(�	l�!-l#$/a;DF<BF8	p6B8M<	eq66<g													 			 d6>;RR6F?6?	_DR6F	a1=BRDR2�	 KII	̀	AIII	EDR6F2h 												�II	̀	Aj�II	EDR6F2AI 									AjIII	̀	HjIII	EDR6F2AH 									Aj�II	̀	HjSII	EDR6F2rsstuvwxyz@		e{q|{g	}	]2	<M6	̂12B>	DFB<	;J	BEEDRBF1F>6	e<M6	1R;DF<	;J	EB8M<	J1EEBF8	;F	1	2D5J1>6g9		q;;<>1F?E6	R612D56R6F<	B2	<136F	TB<M	1	M1F?	M6E?	EB8M<	R6<659		~F6	J;;<>1F?E6	B2	6�DB71E6F<	<;	<M6	BEEDRBF1F>6	L5;?D>6?	;F	;F6	2�D156	J;;<	;J	2D5J1>6	1561	̂c	1	2;D5>6	;J	;F6	>1F?E6	1<	1	?B2<1F>6	;J	;F6	J;;<9		p;5B�;F<1E	J;;<>1F?E62	R612D56	<M6	BEEDRBF1<B;F	2<5B3BF8	1	M;5B�;F<1E	LE1F69	q;;<>1F?E6	71ED62	>1F	̂6	R612D56?	?B56><Ec	TB<M	>65<1BF	M1F?M6E?	BF>B?6F<	EB8M<	R6<6529y��zw}	4	DFB<	D26?	<;	R612D56	<M6	1><D1E	1R;DF<	;J	EB8M<	<M1<	B2	L5;?D>6?	̂c	1	̂DÊ9		0M6	EDR6F	�D1F<BJB62	<M6	1R;DF<	;J	EB8M<	6F658c	L5;?D>6?	̂c	1	E1RL	1<	<M6	E1RLj	F;<	̂c	<M6	6F658c	BFLD<j	TMB>M	B2	BF?B>1<6?	̂c	<M6	{T1<<186{9		q;5	6=1RLE6j	1	�K̀T1<<	BF>1F?62>6F<	E1RL	>1F	L5;?D>6	AIII	EDR6F2	TMBE6	1	�ÌT1<<	MB8M̀L5622D56	2;?BDR	E1RL	L5;?D>62	�III	EDR6F29		_DR6F	;D<LD<	B2	EB2<6?	̂c	<M6	R1FDJ1><D565	;F	<M6	L1>318BF89		�	���'	Z�*�""�&)�)	[(�*#!*�$'	+Z[������,/		 !-l#!&-	��(	�o#�(!�(	�&.!(�&"�&#$�	�&)	+Z[�n�,/[�(\!&-	 �#$�		0M6	]EEDRBF1<BF8	GF8BF665BF8	O;>B6<c	;J	:;5<M	4R65B>1	e]GO	;5	]GO:4gj	B2	1F	;581FB�1<B;F	<M1<	62<1̂EB2M62	DL?1<6?	2<1F?15?2	1F?	BEEDRBF1<B;F	8DB?6EBF62	J;5	<M6	EB8M<BF8	BF?D2<5c9M<<L@ffTTT9B62F19;58f2M;LfB<6R̀?6<1BE9>JR�]��dQ̀PP̀���2<;56B?�AM<<L@ffTTT9B62F19;58f2M;LfB<6R̀?6<1BE9>JR�]��dQ̀HÌ�h�2<;56B?�A



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
June 18, 2019 
 
 
 
 
 
Mtg Date:   June 27, 2019 
 
To:  Planning Commission   
 
From:  Julie Johnston, AICP 
 
Subject: DRAFT Maple Hill South Overlay Zone  
 
 
The attached document is the third DRAFT of the new Maple Hill South Overlay Zone.  The requested 
updates from the May 9th review meeting were added to the draft.  For the Planning Commission’s 
consideration, red is new language and strikethrough is language to be removed. 
 
The intent at the June 27th meeting is to continue the systematic review of this draft Ordinance for possible 
additions or changes. 
 
Thank you. 
 
 
  



Page 1 
 

Oshtemo Township 
Maple Hill South Mixed-Use Overlay District 
 
 
SECTION XX.000 MAPLE HILL SOUTH MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT 
June 27 Draft 
 
XX.10 INTENT AND APPLICABILITY 
 
A. Intent. The Maple Hill South Mixed-Use Overlay District (MHS-Overlay District) is intended to 

provide, through comprehensive planning, zoning and project review, for the development of a 
compact, pedestrian-oriented, mixed-use district, consisting of a planned mixture of 
commercial, office and technology, residential, and public use, which features high quality and 
uniform building and site design standards, and which complements and is compatible with 
adjacent uses. The district is designed to provide residents and visitors with a unique 
opportunity to meet their needs for housing, employment services, entertainment, and 
recreation.  
 

B. Optional Overlay. The MHS-Overlay District is established as an optional overlay district, the 
limits of which are designated on the official Zoning Map of Oshtemo Township. This means that 
it is overlaid on other, existing zoning districts. Within this optional overlay district, property 
owners have the option to continue to use their property in the manner permitted in the 
underlying districts. The overlay district provides additional opportunities and flexibility should 
property owners choose to avail themselves of those choices. These opportunities within the 
overlay district, however, do not apply unless the property owner elects to become subject to 
the overlay district and the standards and procedures contained herein. 

 
C. Eligibility Criteria.  In order to qualify as an eligible development under the MHP-Overlay District 

standards and procedures contained herein, the Planning Commission, shall find that the 
development demonstrates compliance with the following principles: 

 
1. Size. In order to ensure that the intent of this Overlay District is accomplished, projects 

must be of a sufficient size. A minimum development size of 80 acres of contiguous land 
shall be required, which may be developed in phases.  

 
2. Walkability. Physical infrastructure shall be provided to support pedestrian access and a 

mix of amenities and destinations within a reasonable walking distance. Blocks shall be 
short and walkable.  Streets should shall be walkable, designed for cars, bicycles, and 
pedestrians, and comply with the Township’s Complete Streets policy. 

 
3. Circulation. Site access and on-site circulation shall be provided through an 

interconnected network of streets, sidewalks and other routes. A grid-like An integrated 
network of streets shall be established to that enable an efficient dispersion of traffic. 
Accommodations for transit facilities should be provided shall be requested. 

 
4. Pedestrian-Orientation. Sites shall be designed such that vehicles are not the dominant 

feature. Large expanses of pavement shall be replaced or reduced via on-street parking, 



 
 

Page 2 

parking structures, shared parking, underground parking, and other parking 
management strategies. 

 
5. Mixed-Use. There shall be a variety of compatible uses, services and building types that 

serve the needs of residents, workers, and visitors alike.  A range of types, sizes, 
amenities, and uses will enhance a series of inviting functional spaces, including streets 
and pedestrian-friendly streetscapes, open spaces, courtyards, trails, residential, office, 
and retail in mixed-use buildings. Varied styles of residential development shall be 
provided to attract residents of diverse ages, incomes, and lifestyles for example, lofts, 
townhomes, duplexes, cottages, single-family homes, etc . 

 
6. District Identity and Physical Design. A coordinated distinct identity shall be developed 

for the District to promote a sense of place. Building design shall be elevated with varied 
building heights, architectural character, and high-quality building materials that provide 
visual interest at a pedestrian scale. A streetscape aesthetic shall be designed that 
includes public elements and integrated gateways and signage within the District. 

 
7. Community Spaces. Open spaces and community gathering spaces shall be provided 

within the District to be used as locations to stimulate social interaction, civic events, 
and recreational activity. Passive open spaces shall be designed to be reflective of the 
existing landscape and natural features (tree rows, ponds, etc.) of the site. Active plazas 
and civic spaces shall also be integrated into the overall development. 

 
8. Compatibility with Adjacent Residential Uses. The physical height and bulk of buildings 

shall reduce in size from north to south, providing compatibility in size to the adjacent 
residential neighborhoods. A transitional land use scheme shall be employed, with the 
least intensive and lowest density land uses to be located along the southern edge of 
the District (adjacent to established residential areas).  

 
XX.20 CONTEXT ZONES 
 
The Maple Hill South Mixed Use Overlay District is divided into three four Context Zones. These Context 
Zones are illustrated on the map herein and are as follows: Gateway (G); Mixed-Use Transition (MT); 
Town Center (TC); and Neighborhood Transition (NT). The regulations of this Article related to uses 
allowed, building heights, building design, site orientation, parking and other development standards 
may vary for each of the Context Zones. The Planning Commission is given the authority to permit 
flexibility in the delineation of the context zones to encourage innovation in land use and variety of 
design, layout, type and use of structures. 
 
[Insert Context Zones Map] 

 
XX.30 USES PERMITTED BY CONTEXT ZONE 
 
A. Permitted Uses. The following Context Zone character descriptions shall determine the types of 

uses which may be allowed. The Planning Commission, may approve any use determined to be 
compatible with the Context Zone character descriptions, with the exception of prohibited uses 
listed in Subsection B.  

 



 
 

Page 3 

1. Gateway (G) – Lands along the edge of the MHS-Overlay District with frontage along or 
near U.S. 131 and/or West Main Street are designated in this Context Zone. Land uses 
within this area will primarily be of a retail, restaurant, entertainment, lodging, office 
and technology character. Other uses may also be accommodated, including compatible 
medical, educational, institutional and higher-density residential use.  

 
2. Mixed-Use Transition - Lands along the edge of the MHS-Overlay District with frontage 

along or near West Main Street are designated in this Context Zone. Land uses within 
this area will primarily be of a retail, restaurant, entertainment, and office character, 
with higher-density residential uses. Other uses may also be accommodated, including 
compatible medical, educational, institutional and technology uses. 

 
3. Town Center (TC) – This Context Zone is envisioned as a central focal point of the MHS-

Overlay District, with compact mixed-uses that will provide a nucleus to attract future 
growth. Development will allow for a mix of uses both vertically within buildings and 
horizontally within blocks. Mixed-use buildings could contain first-floor commercial, 
retail, and/or office uses, with upper floor office and/or residential uses. Mixed-use 
blocks allow for single-use buildings in a range of land uses within one block. 
Commercial uses, professional offices, entertainment facilities and cultural centers are 
encouraged.  

 
4. Neighborhood Transition (NT) – This Context Zone is anticipated to accommodate a 

wide variety of residential styles. This could include higher density residential land uses 
adjacent to the Town Center, Gateway and/or existing commercial development on 
West Main Street. Traditional single-family detached and/or attached residential uses 
will be accommodated to serve as a buffer between mixed-uses within the District and 
the adjacent neighborhoods to the south of the District. 

 
4. Community and Open Space Uses shall also be integrated throughout the development 

to ensure an exceptional environment for visitors and residents. A central community 
space area is recommended as a District focal point; this space would be designed to 
accommodate more active community functions, such as civic events, recreation, and 
entertainment. Passive open space areas shall serve as buffers and places to experience 
and enjoy nature.  (Planning Commission did not think this was needed here as 
community and open space uses are requirements in the development standards.  It 
was determined that this section of the Overlay should just deal with the Context 
Zones.) 

 
B. Prohibited Uses. The following uses are specifically prohibited within the MHS-Overlay District:  
 

1. New and/or used car sales lots; recreational vehicle sales lots; mobile home sales lots 
outside of mobile home parks; farm machinery and other equipment sales lots; boat 
sales lots; and other businesses involving substantial outdoor sales. or activities 
connected with retail sales. 
 

2. Filling stations, carwashes, public garages or service stations, automobile repair, auto 
body, auto glass repair and auto paint shops.  
 



 
 

Page 4 

3. Automobile repair, service and/or automobile glass repair facilities.  
 

4. Drive-in theatres.  
 

5. Earth removal, quarrying, gravel processing, mining, related mineral extraction 
businesses, and landfill gas recovery processing facilities. 
 

6. Manufacturing, compounding, assembling or treatment of merchandise. 
 

7. Wholesaling, storage buildings and/or warehousing of commodities, mini-
storage/warehouses.  
 

8. Storage buildings and mini warehouses.  
 

9. Outdoor equipment and/or vehicle storage yards. 
 

10. Commercial kennels for the breeding, raising and/or boarding of dogs or cats.  
 

11. Adult regulated uses. 
 

XX.40 DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 
 

A. Site Development Requirements. The following regulations shall apply to all development 
within the MHS-Overlay District.  

 

Context 
Zone 

Height Placement Minimum 
Floor Area 

per 
Dwelling 

Unit 

Minimum 
Required 

Open Space 

Minimum 
Building 
Height 

(1) 

Maximum 
Building 
Height 

Front and 
Street 
Sides 

Minimum 
Side 

Setback 

Minimum 
Rear 

Setback 

Gateway (G) 1 story / 18 
feet 

3 stories / 
6 stories 

with direct 
US-131 

frontage 

15 feet 
(2) 

10 feet 
(2) 

20 feet 
(2) (4) 

15% of net 
acreage 

(5) 

Mixed-Use 
Transition 

1 story / 18 
feet 3 stories 15 feet 

(2) 
10 feet 

(2) 
20 feet 

(2) (4) 
15% of net 

acreage 
(5) 

Town 
Center (TC) 2 stories 5 stories 

0 feet 
required 

building line 
(3) 

0 feet 0 feet (4) 
10% of net 

acreage 
(5) 

Neighbor-
hood 

Transition 
(NT) 

1 story 2 stories 15 feet 
(2) 

10 feet 
(2) 

15 feet 
(2) (4) 

25% of net 
acreage 

(5) 

 
Footnotes to the Development Requirements Table: 



 
 

Page 5 

 
(1) A minimum ground floor height of 12 feet shall be required for all development within 

the MHS-Overlay District. 
 
(2) The Planning Commission, may approve reduced setbacks to allow for buildings to be 

placed in a manner that encourages a consistent street wall and provides for a usable 
sidewalk area and a more attractive pedestrian environment. 

 
(3) Buildings shall be placed on lots in relation to their frontages in a manner that 

encourages a consistent street wall and provides for a usable sidewalk area and a more 
attractive pedestrian environment. 75% of the building façade must meet the required 
building line, while up to 25% of the façade can be setback to allow for architectural 
considerations such as outdoor cafés, plazas, squares or other public spaces. The 
required build to line and frontage coverages may be modified by the Planning 
Commission, provided that the location of any proposed building is in keeping with or 
improves the context of the existing area. 

 
(4) The minimum floor area per dwelling unit shall be as follows: 

 
   Unit Type:     Minimum Floor Area: 

Efficiency or 1 bedroom    600 sq. ft. 

2 Bedrooms     800 sq. ft. 

3 or More Bedrooms    1,000 sq. ft. 
 
Elderly (independent)    525 sq. ft. 

 
Elderly (limited assisted)   425 sq. ft. 

 
(5) Required open space may include plazas, parks, pedestrian pathways, lakes or similar 

types of park-like features. 
 
B. Residential Maximum Density and Density Bonus.   
 

1. For the purposes of this Article, net acreage shall be defined as the gross acreage of the 
development, minus public/private rights-of-way and stormwater detention areas. 
However, stormwater detention areas may be included within the net acreage if they 
are designed as functional open spaces, are accessible to pedestrians, and do not 
require safety fencing.  
 

2. The maximum residential density shall not exceed six (6) dwelling units per net acreage 
of the development.  

 
3. The inclusion of certain amenities or design options may result in an allowed increase in 

residential density, referred to as a density bonus. However, the total density bonus 
shall not result in a residential density of more than eight (8) dwelling units per net 



 
 

Page 6 

acreage of development. The Planning Commission may determine the density bonus 
upon a finding that the proposed development would accomplish at least four (4) of the 
below amenities or design options. If the development is proposed in phases, the 
Planning Commission may, at its discretion, approve density bonuses for one or more 
phases, commensurate with the amenities or design options proposed for each phase. 

 
a. Construction and dedication of land for a public park, plaza, or open space use, 

if acceptable to the Township. 
 

b. Development of significant recreational or site amenities such as golf courses, 
baseball diamonds, tennis courts, basketball courts and community buildings. 

 
c. In addition to sidewalks required along public streets, the development of 

pedestrian, bicycle, or other recreational trails for public use that are separated 
from vehicular traffic, within the development and connecting to adjacent 
development.  

 
d. Provision of open space in an amount which is at least 50 percent greater than 

the minimum open space percentage required by Section XX.40.A. 
 

e. Significant use of sustainable building design features such as, optimized energy 
performance, on-site renewable energy, passive solar heating, use of 
reused/recycled/renewable materials, indoor air quality mechanisms, green 
roofs, or other elements identified as sustainable by established groups such as 
the US Green Building Council (LEED) or ANSI National Green Building Standards. 

 
f. Significant use of sustainable site design features such as stormwater filtration 

landscaping, low impact stormwater management, permeable surfaces, 
bioretention facilities, or other elements identified as sustainable by established 
groups such as the US Green Building Council (LEED). 

 
g. Provision of other exceptional public benefits within the development, 

determined by the Planning Commission as sufficient to qualify as one of the 
four required amenities or design options justifying a density bonus. 

 
C. Road Design.   
 

1. The development shall be serviced by an interior street system. If some or all of the 
interior street system is private, it shall be built in conformance with the standards and 
requirements of Section 49.160 of the Township Zoning Ordinance. Exceptions to the 
standards and requirements of Section 49.160 may be permitted by the Planning 
Commission, where deemed necessary to achieve the intent and eligibility criteria of 
this Article. 

 
D. Open Space.   
 



 
 

Page 7 

1. Designated open space shall be set aside as common land and either retained in an 
essentially undeveloped or unimproved state or improved as a "public gathering places" 
to serve the following purposes: 

 
a. Conservation of land and its resources 
 
b. Ecological protection 
 
d. Protect historic and/or scenic features 
 
e. Shaping and guiding the development 
 
f. Enhancement of values and safety 
 
g. Provide opportunities for social interaction 
 
h. Provide parkland and active recreational opportunities on a neighborhood scale. 

 
2. Designated open space shall be under common ownership or control, such that there is 

a single entity having proprietary responsibility. Sufficient documentation of ownership 
or control in the form of agreements, contracts, covenants, and/or deed restrictions 
shall be provided.  

 
3. Designated open space shall be set aside through an irrevocable conveyance approved 

by the Planning Commission, such as: 
 

a. Recorded deed restrictions 
 
b.  Covenants that run perpetually with the land 
 
c.  A conservation easement 
 
d.  Land trusts. 
 
e.  Such conveyance shall assure that the open space is protected from 

development, except as approved by the Planning Commission. Such 
conveyance shall also: 
 
1)  Indicate the proposed allowable use(s) of the designated open space; 
 
2)  Require that the designated open space be maintained by parties who 

have an ownership interest in the open space; 
 
3)  Provide standards for scheduled maintenance of the open space; 
 
4)  Provide for maintenance to be undertaken by the Township in the event 

that the dedicated open space is inadequately maintained or is 



 
 

Page 8 

determined by the Township to be a public nuisance, with the 
assessment of costs upon the open space ownership. 

 
E. Buffer from Adjacent Residential Uses.  
 

1. Where the height and bulk of any proposed residential construction is not equivalent 
and more intensive than existing adjacent residential development, a greenspace 
buffer/vegetative screen shall be provided which is acceptable to the Planning 
Commission in terms of width, height and composition of plant materials. 

 
F. Access. 
 

Item to be discussed. Refer to the “Vehicular Circulation and Connections” narrative from the 
Maple Hill Drive South Sub-Area Plan.  

 
XX.50 AUTHORITY TO WAIVER DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS. 
 
Regulations relating to the use of land, including permitted land uses, height requirements, yard 
setbacks, and site improvements shall, in the first instance, be based upon the standards and 
requirements outlined in this Article. However, the Planning Commission is given the authority to permit 
flexibility in such standards and encourage innovation in land use and variety of design, layout, type and 
use of structures, provided any variation granted would also result in the overall design being consistent 
with the Intent and Eligibility Criteria of this Article, compatible with the adjacent uses of land, the 
natural environment, and the capacities of public services and facilities affected by the land uses. 
 
XX.60 APPLICATION AND APPROVAL PROCEDURES 
 
A. Optional pre-application review(s). Informal pre-application review(s) is encouraged and may be 

scheduled with the Planning Department and/or Planning Commission, at which the project 
concept may be reviewed by the applicant, Township staff, and Township consultants.  

 
B. General Development Plan. 
 

1. An application proposing the development of land within the MHS-Overlay District shall 
first be made through the submittal of a general development plan (GDP). An 
application for review and approval of a GDP may be made by the owners of record or 
by any persons acting on behalf of the owners of record of the subject parcel. The 
applicant shall have a substantial interest in the subject property prior to filing; such 
filing shall be in the name of and signed by all owners. The applicant shall provide 
evidence of full ownership all land in the proposed project area, such as legal title or 
execution of a binding sales agreement, prior to approval of the GDP by the Township. 

 
2. Information required. The general development plan shall consist of a plan of the entire 

area carried out in sufficient detail as to show topography, land uses proposed, the 
densities and scale of development, the system of pedestrian and vehicular circulation, 
including off-street parking areas, and the relationship to adjacent properties and uses. 
Further, the GDP shall contain all the following information: 

 



 
 

Page 9 

a. A property survey of the exact acreage proposed to be developed, prepared by 
a registered land surveyor or civil engineer (Scale: 1" = 50');  

 
b. The intent of nonresidential development, type and gross and net square feet 

for each area of the site; 
 
c. The number and type of residential units and residential density for each area of 

the site; 
 
d. Location, size, and uses of common open space and recreation areas; 
 
e. General landscape concept showing woodlands, wetlands and vegetation to be 

preserved or added, topography, and similar features; 
 
f. Delineation of areas to be subdivided, if applicable; 
 
g. General description of proposed water, sanitary sewer, and storm drainage 

system; 
 
h. A unified plan for wayfinding and signage within the development; 
 
i. A plan delineating the location and area of the proposed phases of the 

development; 
 
j. A written statement containing the following supporting documentation: 

 
1) A full description as to how the proposed development satisfies the 

eligibility requirements and design principles of Section XX.10.C; 
 
2) If applicable, evidence of how the proposed development meets the 

criteria for qualifying for a density bonus outlined in Section XX.40.B;  
 
3) A description of the expected schedule of development including 

progressive time schedule for each phase of the development;  
 

4) General description of the organization to be established, to own and 
maintain common open space; 

 
5) General description of covenants, grants, easements, or other 

restrictions to be imposed upon land or buildings, including easements 
for public utilities, bylaws, and articles of incorporation for any 
homeowners' association or cooperative association; 

 
6) Description of applicant's intentions regarding selling or leasing of all or 

portions of land in the development and of dwelling units; 
 

7) Description of all proposed nonresidential uses, including types of stores 
and offices; 



 
 

Page 10 

 
8) The number and type of residential units and calculations of the 

resultant population; 
  

9) Average initial sales prices of dwelling units for sale and/or average 
initial rents of rental dwelling units; 

 
10) A draft Development Agreement which establishes the formal rights and 

obligations of the property owner and Oshtemo Township regarding the 
future development of the site. The Development Agreement shall, at a 
minimum, specify: the parties to the agreement; the obligations of the 
property owner; a term or duration within which the action and 
obligations of the agreement must be fulfilled by the property owner; 
vested rights; procedures for determining compliance with the 
conditions included in the agreement; default remedies; provisions 
guiding the transfer of rights and obligations to subsequent property 
owners; and enforcement procedures; 

  
C. Public Hearing. The Planning Commission shall, upon receipt of a general development plan in 

proper form, schedule and hold a hearing upon the request and shall notify the applicant and all 
owners of all contiguous parcels of such hearing.  
 

D. Standards for Review of the GDP. The general development plan and supporting information 
shall be reviewed by the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission shall base its 
determination as to whether the plan meets the following standards: 

 
1. The general development plan shall generally conform to the Intent of this Article as 

outlined in Section XX.10.A. 
 
2. The general development plan shall generally conform to the Eligibility Criteria and 

Design Principles of Section XX.10.C. 
 
3. The general development plan shall generally conform to the review criteria for special 

land uses as outlined in Section 65.30. 
 
E. Decision of the Planning Commission. The Planning Commission shall deny, approve, or approve 

with conditions the general development plan and supporting documentation. The Planning 
Commission shall record its conclusions, its decisions, the basis for its decision, and any 
recommended conditions to be imposed in conjunction with an affirmative decision.  

 
F. Effect of Approval of the General Development Plan. Approval of the GDP shall indicate the 

Planning Commission’s acceptance of uses, building location, layout of streets, dwelling unit 
count and type, floor areas, densities, and all other elements of the plan. The approval shall 
authorize the applicant to then submit, within ninety (90) days, a final draft Development 
Agreement for review and approval by the Township, with assistance from the Township 
Attorney. 

 



 
 

Page 11 

G. Development Agreement. For any project involving a financial obligation on the part of Oshtemo 
Township, approval of the GDP by the Township Board shall be required. The Development 
Agreement shall attest that the approved GDP and any conditions attached to the approvals, 
shall be binding on the property owner and upon their heirs, successors, and assigns. Upon 
approval by the Township, the executed Development Agreement shall be recorded with the 
Kalamazoo County Register of Deeds Office by the property owner within thirty (30) days of its 
signing. The property owner shall immediately thereafter provide a certified copy of the 
recorded Development Agreement with the Township Clerk for record keeping purposes. 

 
H. Site Plan. Execution of the Development Agreement shall authorize the applicant to file 

applications for site plan approval for all or phases of the development consistent with the 
approved GDP phasing schedule and Development Agreement. All site plans shall conform to 
the approved GDP and shall include the information required by Section 64.60.C. The Planning 
Department shall have the authority to deny, approve, or approve with conditions all site plans 
submitted for review under this section. The Planning Department shall record its conclusions, 
its decisions, the basis for its decision, and any recommended conditions to be imposed in 
conjunction with an affirmative decision.  

 
I. Amendments. A property owner may request an amendment to an approved GDP. 
 

1. Minor modifications to an approved GDP may be administratively approved by the 
Planning Department. Modifications to be considered minor shall include, among other 
similar modifications, the following: 

 
a. A change in residential floor area; 
 
b. A change in nonresidential floor area of ten percent or less; 
 
c. Minor variations in layout which do not constitute major changes; and/or 
 
d. A change in lot coverage of the entire GDP of five percent or less. 

 
2. Major modifications to an approved GDP shall follow the procedures and conditions 

required for the original submittal and review in full. Modifications to be considered 
major changes shall include one or more of the following: 

 
 a. Change in concept of the development; 
 
 b. Change in use or character of the development; 
 
 c. Change in type of dwelling units as identified on the general development plan; 
 
 d. Change in the number of dwelling units; 
 
 e. Change in nonresidential floor area of over ten percent; 
 
 f. Change in lot coverage of the entire GDP of more than five percent; 
 



 
 

Page 12 

 g. Rearrangement of lots, blocks, and building tracts; 
 
 h. Change in the character or function of any street; 
 

i. Reduction in land area set aside for common open space or the relocation of 
such area; or, 

 
j. Increase in building height. 

 
3. The Planning Department shall have the authority to determine whether a requested 

change is major or minor, in accordance with this section. The burden shall be on the 
property owner to show the reasons for any requested change owing to changed 
physical or economic factors, or consumer demand. 

 
J. Expiration, Extension and Revocation. The Development Agreement approved by the Township 

shall designate the timeframes and terms for the expiration, extension and revocation of plan 
approvals under this Article. 

 
 



Old
Po

st Rd

Horizon Heights Dr

Valley View Dr

S Manorwood Dr

G reen Meadow
D

r

Driftwood Ave

M
a

p
le

 H
ill

 D
r

Shadywood Dr

W
in

din
g

w
o

o
d

D
r

C
lu

b
 V

ie
w

 D
r

Lo
d

g
e 

Ln

E
R

id
g

e

C
ir

Lo
d

g
e 

Ln

W
o

o
d

la
n

e 
D

r

W
es

tv
ie

w
 S

t

Scenic Way Dr

M
anda la

y
D

r

N
 1

0
th

 S
t

N
 D

ra
k

e
 R

d

W Main St

S
 D

ra
k

e
 R

d

R
o

u
n

d
 H

ill R
d

M
a

p
le

 H
ill

 D
r

M
a

ll

D
r

Sky Ridge Ave

B
u

tte
rfl y

Grasshopper

Penrose Ln

Vin tage Ln

N JeffersonCommons

C
ir

H
ic

ko
ry

V
al

le
y

D
r

C
op

pe
r

Beach Blvd

£¤131

0 500 1,000250
Feet

Z

Maple Hill South Mixed-Use Overlay District:
Context Zones

Data Sources:
Oshtemo Township Zoning Map
Michigan Geographic Framework, v14.

Local Roads

Major Roads

Property Lines

DRAFT - 3/6/19

Gateway
(G)

Neighborhood
Transition (NT)

Town
Center

(TC)

Mixed-Use 
Transition

(MT)


	1 - pc agenda 06-27-2019
	2 - 2019  Back of Agenda Final
	3 - Minutes of June 13 2019
	4 - Lighting Memo
	5 - Article 54 Amendments - 06-27-2019
	ARTICLE 54 - LIGHTING

	6 - Lighting Design Spreadsheet - CEI Suggestions
	7 - ALI_ Uniformity Ratios in Ordinances
	8 - LightingPlanGuidelines
	9 - Maple Hill South
	10 - Maple Hill Overlay Draft 06-18-2019
	11 - Maple Hill Zoning Overlay Context Zone Map - Updated 06-18-2019



